

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Strategies to Increase Employees' Morale

Shannon Gary Coffey Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Business Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Shannon Coffey

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Mohamad Hammoud, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Lisa Cave, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Alexandre Lazo, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Strategies to Increase Employees' Morale

by

Shannon G. Coffey

MS, King University, 2014

BS, King University, 2013

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

Abstract

Leaders who lack effective strategies to increase employee morale face an organizational decrease in productivity, sustainability, and profitability, increasing absenteeism and turnover and costing businesses millions of dollars. Grounded in Burns's transformational leadership theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies used by successful organizational leaders to increase employee morale to improve productivity and profitability in their organization. Data were collected through semistructured interviews and a review of company documents. Participants comprised five leaders of a company located in Knoxville, Tennessee, who successfully used strategies to increase employee morale resulting in increased productivity and profitability. Three themes emerged through Yin's five-step data analysis process: effective communication, employee engagement, and employee reward. A key recommendation for business leaders is to encourage open communication through emails, face-to-face meetings, phone calls, and yearly performance reviews. The implications for positive social change include the potential to increase employees' morale and improve organizations' productivity and profitability, leading to a decrease in unemployment and crime and enabling the organization employees to contribute time, skills, and money to the local community.

Strategies to Increase Employees' Morale

by

Shannon G. Coffey

MS, King University, 2014

BS, King University, 2013

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2021

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my father and mother, Gary and Betty Coffey and my two kids Kaden and Kambria Coffey. I love you, and thank you so much for putting up with my long hours of studying and time away from family. I also dedicate this doctoral study to my heavenly father for helping me to endure sleepless nights and to keep motivated through my academic career to finish what I started.

Acknowledgments

I want to acknowledge and thank all my family, friends, co-workers, students, as well as all other professors for their generous and unwavering love and support. I have been fortunate to have Drs. Dorle, Harris, Hammoud, Chandler, Diala, Moore, Cusaac, Cave, Lazo, Davis, and Blando help me through my academic career. I acknowledge these professors in guiding me to success in my endeavor. To my chair, Dr. Mohamad S. Hammoud, thank you for all your patience and guidance during this life-changing journey. I truly appreciate it. To my second chair Dr. Cave, and my URR, Dr. Lazo, thank you for your knowledge and encouragement.

List of Tablesiv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem1
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Study
Research Question4
Interview Questions4
Conceptual Framework
Operational Definitions6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations7
Assumptions7
Limitations
Delimitations
Significance of the Study9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature9
Transformational Leadership Theory11
Other Leadership Theories16
Factors and Issues Affecting Workplace Performance
Job Satisfaction
Turnover

Table of Contents

Workplace Conflict	
Ethical Leadership Theory	
Team Player	30
Emotional intelligence	32
Leadership Behavior	33
Absenteeism	
Epistemic Virtues	
Leadership Learning and Acting	45
Compensation	
Transition	51
Section 2: The Project	53
Purpose Statement	53
Role of the Researcher	53
Participants	56
Research Method and Design	58
Research Method	58
Research Design	60
Population and Sampling	62
Ethical Research	64
Data Collection Instruments	65
Data Collection Technique	66
Data Organization Technique	68

Data Analysis	69
Reliability and Validity	71
Reliability	71
Validity	72
Transition and Summary	74
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	76
Presentation of the Findings	76
Applications to Professional Practice	83
Implication for Social Change	85
Recommendations for Action	85
Recommendations for Further Research	87
Reflections	88
Conclusion	89
References	90
Appendix: Interview Protocol	149

List of Tables

Table 1. Subthemes of Effective Communication	78
Table 2. Subthemes of Employee Engagement	79
Table 3. Subthemes of Employee Rewards	82

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Low morale in the workplace is the leading cause of an organizational decrease in productivity, sustainability, and profitability (Street & Lacey, 2018). Low morale costs companies in the United States billions in productivity, absenteeism, and employee satisfaction and health (Kocakulah et al., 2016). Low morale within an organization can destroy workplace structures and could have adverse effects on the company (Patterson-Silver Wolf et al., 2013). The purpose of this qualitative research study was to explore strategies used by successful organizational leaders to increase employee morale.

Background of the Problem

Employees are the most valuable asset in an organization (Henderson, 2020; Stanko et al., 2014). Employee morale is a major factor for the organization and a contributing factor to consumers' satisfaction. In the United States, employees' low morale is costing the economy \$350 billion in lost productivity each year (Loosemore & Bridgeman, 2017). For productivity to increase in the workplace, a business leader needs to identify ways to improve employee morale that would positively affect productivity (Brun & Cooper, 2009). Business leaders have the responsibility of ensuring employees' satisfaction in the workplace to increase morale (Saridakis et al., 2013).

Employee satisfaction is not easy to monitor because satisfaction is about how an employee feels at work and the psychological forces that act on an individual. An organization can be more efficient if employee satisfaction is high (Korzynski, 2013). The first step in resolving problems related to employee satisfaction is to recognize these problems (Kocakulah et al., 2016). Leaders need to be able to identify employee satisfaction associated with emotions, staffing, verbal abuse, fairness, and violence (Patterson-Silver Wolf et al., 2013).

Redundant workload, leaders' lack of appreciation, and employees' lack of advancement are significant stressors that contribute to employee job turnover, absenteeism, low job satisfaction, low motivation, and low morale from an unsupportive organization (Jasperse et al., 2013). In an organization, many factors can interrupt production, and a leader needs to know how to influence the employee to support a healthier work environment and reduce stressors that contribute to low morale. Effective leadership has been a contributing factor to the success of many companies. The development of leadership is through learning and applying skills, knowledge, and attitude toward leading employees in the workplace (Walesh, 2012).

Problem Statement

Employees' low morale decreases productivity, increases absenteeism and costs, and changes employees' attitudes toward the workplace (Street & Lacey, 2018). Low morale costs the United States \$350 billion each year (Loosemore & Bridgeman, 2017). The general business problem is that employees' low morale affects the productivity, sustainability, and profitability of their organizations. The specific business problem is that some organizational leaders lack strategies to increase employee morale to improve productivity and profitability in their organizations.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies used by successful organizational leaders to increase employee morale to improve productivity in

their organizations. The target population consisted of five managers, at a company in Knoxville, Tennessee, who successfully used strategies to increase employee morale resulting in increased productivity and profitability. The research findings could help increase employees' morale at other companies, which could reduce the turnover rate. The implications for positive social change include the potential to reduce crime in the community by enabling employees to maintain their salaries by reducing employee turnover rates. According to Braun (2019), having a good income can deter people from committing crimes.

Nature of the Study

In this study, I used a qualitative method to gather and analyze rich data from research participants who used their real-world experiences from within the workplace to answer the interview questions. Using a qualitative method enables researchers to build knowledge and experience from participants' real-world experiences and gain a high degree of perspicacity (Toye et al., 2016). By contrast, researchers use a quantitative method to predict and control phenomena based on statistical analysis to give numerical expressions of the correlation or dissimilarity among variables (Park & Park, 2016). However, because my objective was not to correlate or compare variables, the quantitative method would not have supported the basis for this study. Employing the mixed method requires integrating a combination of quantitative and qualitative methods in a single research study (Halcomb & Hickman, 2015; Maxwell, 2019). The mixed method approach was not appropriate for my research because my focus was on exploring rich data from research participants, and not on quantifying them.

I used a single case study for my research to explore strategies managers use to increase employees' morale to improve productivity and profitability in an organization. Researchers use a case study for exploring phenomena within an organization (Raeburn et al., 2015). Before selecting a single case study as the research design for this study, I considered and rejected three alternative qualitative designs: narrative,

phenomenological, and ethnographic. In a narrative design, researchers focus on participants' lived and told stories (Jones, 2016). Because narrative design relies on storytelling from the participants to gather data, this design was not acceptable for this study. Phenomenological researchers collect data from research participants based on the meanings of lived experiences (Chang et al., 2016). I rejected a phenomenological design because I wanted to focus my study on the meanings of lived experiences of participants regarding a particular phenomenon. The ethnographic design is a verification process in which the researcher gathers data by actively engaging with people and their culture (Baskerville & Myers, 2015); I rejected the ethnographic design because the scope of my research did not include people and culture.

Research Question

What strategies do organizational leaders use to increase employee morale to improve productivity and profitability?

Interview Questions

- 1. What are your experiences with developing strategies to boost employee morale?
- 2. What strategies did you use to increase employee morale to improve

productivity?

- 3. What strategies did you use to increase employee morale to improve profitability?
- 4. What were the challenges you faced in maintaining and increasing employee morale?
- 5. How did you address the challenges you faced in maintaining and increasing employee morale?
- 6. What other information would you like to share regarding strategies to increase employee morale?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework I used for this study was the transformational leadership theory, developed by Burns (1978) and later extended by Bass (1985). Transformational leaders motivate their subordinates to excel beyond their means and to strive for a higher goal in the organization (Eisenbeib & Boerner, 2013). The transformational leadership theory brings teamwork, motivation, trust, engagement, growth, and development to employees in the organization (Rawat, 2015). The fundamental concept of this theory is for leaders to influence followers' imagination, performance, intellectual stimulation, motivation, and satisfaction in the workplace (Rawat, 2015).

According to Price and Weiss (2013), transformational leadership provides a potential framework for understanding the relationships between managers and supervisors and employees. Therefore, transformational leadership provided a potential

lens for understanding the results of my empirical inquiry. The key constructs of the transformational leadership framework applied to the leadership style provided a basis for understanding effective strategies to increase morale, which could improve productivity and profitability and lead to a reduction in employee turnover.

Operational Definitions

Employee job satisfaction: Employee job satisfaction is a temperamental state that could encourage service quality and customer fulfillment by facilitating employee emotional behavior (Hur et al., 2015).

Employee morale: Employee morale is an emotional state that affects work engagement, motivation, job implication, job satisfaction, and organizational commitment (Paek et al., 2015).

Heavy workload: Heavy workload is a large amount of work assigned to a particular employee that influences stress, burnout, longer working hours, high turnover, decrease satisfaction, low morale, and organizational failure (Humphries et al., 2014).

High morale: High morale is a work approach affiliated with workplace stability, a clear understanding of work directives, and supportive leaders (Patterson-Silver Wolf et al., 2013).

Job morale: Job morale is how employees perceive their work climate regarding belonging and motivation toward accomplishing workplace goals (Minor et al., 2014).

Leaders' lack of appreciation: Leaders lack appreciation when they do not encourage employees and employees are not receptive to new ideas, promotions, rewards, and recognitions from their leaders (Hogan & Coote, 2014). *Low morale*: Low morale is a work approach affiliated with workplace verbal abuse, insufficient personnel in the organization, workplace violence, and staff feeling that they have no voice in the organization (Patterson-Silver Wolf et al., 2013).

Mindful leader: A mindful leader is a leader with the ability to observe all process interactions internal and external in the workplace (Furtner et al., 2018).

Mobbing: Mobbing is a form of hostile behavior from a group of employees in the workplace aimed at a single person (Qureshi et al., 2015).

Physical workplace: Physical workplace is the spatial arrangement and indoor environment that has significant impact on employee effectiveness, behavior, and performance outcome in the work area (Kim, 2014).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

By acknowledging assumptions, limitations, and delimitations in this study, I provided awareness to the reader and establish boundaries for the research. The accuracy of a research study depends on assumptions and limitations reporting (Lange & Dodds, 2017). In many ways, researchers are limited in conducting scholarly research by these factors due to different conditions and situations that may affect the outcome. Discussing the limitations and delimitations should give a clear indication of the overall trustworthiness to the reader (Elo et al., 2014).

Assumptions

In research, the assumption is the mindset likely to be accurate, based on the researcher reasoning of known facts (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). Four assumptions guided this research. First, I assumed that leaders participating in this study were willing to

communicate their experiences. As expected, leaders participating in this study were willing to communicate their experiences. Second, I assumed that those leaders would have real-world experience and be able to voice their expertise toward strategies to increase employee morale by providing an honest response. Participants had real-world experiences and voiced their expertise toward strategies to increase employee morale. Third, I assumed that the five leaders in this study were suitable for exploring strategies to increase morale in an organization and that they wanted to take part in this study. Indeed, the five leaders in this study were suitable for exploring strategies to increase morale in an organization and they wanted to take part in this study. Indeed, the five leaders in this study were suitable for exploring strategies to increase morale in an organization and they wanted to take part in this study. Indeed, the five leaders in this study were suitable for exploring strategies to increase morale in an organization. Through the data collected, I was able to identify strategies to improve employee morale.

Limitations

Limitations reflect the weaknesses of the study (Dahlgaard et al., 2013) that are factors outside of the researcher control (Kirkwood & Price, 2013). The first limitation of this study was that managers must be able to answer the six interview questions (see Appendix), by in-person interview honestly. The second limitation was that the sample size consisted of five managers who participated in the in-person interview. Wilhelmy et al. (2016) explained that generalizability could be limited due to the size of a sample in a qualitative approach. The third limitation was that I was doing a qualitative case study, which was limited to qualitative data compared to other methods.

Delimitations

Delimitations set the boundaries and extent of the study (Bouzon et al., 2014). There were three delimitations in this study. First, the sample size was small and consisted of only five managers. Second, the scope of the study only includes an organization in Knoxville Tennessee. Third, the primary design was to interview managers to gather data and to focus merely on morale, and I could have gained data through other means.

Significance of the Study

Minor et al. (2014) found that higher morale contributes to higher income growth and productivity in the workplace. This study could be of value to businesses because the findings may include strategies that managers use to increase employee morale to improve productivity and profitability. Van der Vyver et al. (2013) concluded that leaders using caring strategies increase morale, which affects employees' quality of working life and job satisfaction. Business leaders may review their business processes and practices to include such strategies, in their training courses, share such strategies with managers and leaders, or create processes for introducing these strategies in their organization. The implications for positive social change include the potential to improve employees' morale, which may improve organizations' productivity and profitability, leading to a decrease in unemployment and crime and enabling the organization and its employees to contribute time, skills, and money to the local community.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The objective of this qualitative case study was to explore strategies that managers use to increase employee morale to improve productivity and profitability. The

purpose of the literature review was to provide a new assessment of research currently published by prior researchers and to provide readers with a summary of new concepts (Govindan et al., 2015). I conducted a literature review of relevant concepts in the workplace that served as a background to support my research question. My peerreviewed search began by searching articles, books, and dissertations by entering keywords in the following databases: Walden University Library, Google Scholar, ProQuest, EBSCOhost, Expanded Academic ASAP, Academic Search Complete, and ScienceDirect Business. Conducting word searches and phrases through these various databases resulted in hundreds of peer-reviewed scholarly articles, books, and dissertations, enabling me to analyze my research problem further. The literature I reviewed consisted of assessing 379 peer-reviewed sources, 77% of which were published between 2017 and 2021 and 95% of which were peer-reviewed material. I entered the following keywords into these databases: morale, job satisfaction, employee motivation, individualized consideration, high morale, low morale, increase morale, workplace performance, leadership, transformational leadership theory, team building, turnover, workplace measurement, workplace climate, healthy work environment, leadership style, team player, inspirational motivation, leadership theories, workplace conflict, conflict resolution, ethical leadership, emotional intelligence, leadership, mindfulness, leadership learning, leader emotion, complexity leadership theory, and morale boost.

I reviewed the professional and academic literature to consider how leaders' initiatives mitigate the adverse effects of low morale and productivity in an organization. Peer-reviewed scholarly sources were essential to the comprehension of low morale and productivity in the work area to have a more precise depiction of the concepts. I organized the literature review into subsections for the following subjects: (a) transformational leadership theory, (b) other leadership theories, (c) factors and issues affecting workplace performance, (d) job satisfaction, (e) turnover, (f) workplace conflict, (g) ethical leadership theory, (h) team player, (i) emotional intelligence, (j) leadership behavior, (k) absenteeism, (l) epistemic virtues, (m) leadership learning and acting, and (n) compensation.

Transformational Leadership Theory

Transformational leadership is the process in which one individual has the control to influence a group of employees to achieve efficiency, increase productivity, and create solutions in the workplace (Siangchokyoo et al., 2020). Transformational leadership behaviors in the workplace have a significant and continuous impact on individuals (Muchiri et al., 2019). The success of transformational leadership is well documented in prior studies to have an impact on workplace commitment, performance, job satisfaction, morale, and other areas that help facilitate the overall increase in productivity (Yin et al., 2019). The role of every leader is to be able to improve motivation, morale, and productivity within their workplaces. Positive workplace leadership has been documented to influence employee workplace satisfaction, which reduces turnover (Glaso et al., 2018). Transformational leadership theory is the process to improve and transform leaders to become excellent managers in their place of work (Wang et al., 2017). Transformational leaders stimulate motivation, morale, and productivity. Lei et al. (2020)

identified existing research and showed that transformational leadership improves the leader's behavior through individual consideration, intellectual stimulation, inspirational motivation, and idealized influence. All facets of transformational leadership foster a better workplace by giving a meaning for followers, which contributes to oneself and the responses of others. According to Parent and Lovelace (2018), managers with a positive organizational culture can create a work environment where employees could grow and operate at their full potential. According to Robertson and Barling (2017), transformational leadership corresponds with an increase in morale, motivation, and productivity in an organization by targeting employee outcomes. Encouraging transformational leadership behaviors increases subordinates' morale, which improves sustainability in the organization.

In theory, transformational leadership covers a broad range of workplace strategies to increase productivity and morale. Leaders who make efforts to adopt a transformational leadership model use (a) individual consideration, (b) intellectual stimulation, (c) inspirational motivation, and (d) idealized influence. Leaders who incorporate these four behaviors in the workplace empower followers to increase productivity and morale (Joo & Jo, 2017). An et al. (2018) suggested that leaders take initial and annual training that explicitly encourages leaders to incorporate transformational leadership theory into managerial behavior, which improves organizations' success. Researchers have proven transformational leadership has positive impacts on team success, including an increase in morale, productivity, job satisfaction, and quality (Alozie, 2020; Yue et al., 2019).

Individual Consideration

Leaders with individual consideration behavior spend time with followers and give opportunities to grow by coaching and mentoring, which can stimulate individual achievement in their followers to help them reach their full potential (Cai et al., 2016). Pasamar et al. (2019) found that encouraging personnel support stimulates learning, coaching, teaching, and mentoring. Leaders with individual consideration behavior, stimulate followers by expressing high-performance expectations, which target the employee rather than the workplace (Dong et al., 2016). Through individual consideration, leaders show respect for employees' development, which in turn increases morale, motivation, and productivity in the workplace. Eberly et al. (2017) found that stimulating and considering employees affect the intention to leave the workplace. Providing empathy, a supportive climate, and training and learning opportunities creates a healthy workplace for the employees, which should signal positive behaviors throughout the workplace (Niessen et al., 2017).

Intellectual Stimulation

Leaders with intellectual stimulation behaviors encourage creativity and innovation by challenging organization teams through critical thinking and solving problems, which increases productivity and morale (Allen et al., 2017). Berraies and Abidine (2019) found that when leaders stimulate individual thinking in innovative ways, they inspire motivation that positively influences productivity and morale in the organization. Encouraging intellectual behavior influences employees' thought process, inspires the individual to challenge different methods, and drives employees to find creative ways in dealing with novel situations, which in turn creates a positive attitude toward their job (Ding et al., 2017). Employees with a positive attitude create the happiest and most productive workplace (Hogreve et al., 2017). Leaders with intellectual stimulation persuade subordinates to be creative, use logic, apply intelligence, and encourage employees to see different perspectives in the way to accomplish any task (Pasha et al., 2017). Leaders who provide quality time, coaching, counseling, mentoring, and opportunities for employee growth would influence productivity and increase the chances of positive change in the workplace (Bouwmans et al., 2017). Ali et al. (2019) and Alos-Simo et al. (2016) added that transformational leaders motivate employees to generate and share knowledge, inspire followers' intellects, open communication, influence values, and stimulate the workplace implementation of adaptive culture, which increased motivation and morale in the workplace.

Inspirational Motivation

Leaders with inspirational motivation stimulate followers by acting as a role models (Tsevairidou et al., 2019). Leaders who display enthusiasm and optimism toward subordinates' performance, goals, values, and vision stimulate employees, which increases productivity and morale (Gilbert et al., 2017). Mullen et al. (2017) found that leader behavior contributes significantly to occupational safety in the workplace, and safety stimulates employees' work ethics. Novak et al. (2017) argued that workplace safety starts with a commitment from leaders to ensure employee safety is part of everyday activities. Leaders who develop a safe work environment stimulate employees' engagement, good health positive emotions, and enhancement (Horwitz & Horwitz, 2017). Employee engagement creates a positive social relationship with their coworkers, which in turn creates an increase in organizational productivity and morale (Jha et al., 2019).

Delegach et al. (2017) asserted that leaders motivate their coworkers to gain commitment from their followers, which increases productivity and morale in the workplace. Francis and Keegan (2020) and Merrilees et al. (2017) found that a leader's engagement stimulates employees' motivation, which results in gaining commitment. When employees feel the workplace is beneficial, they have a strong commitment to the organization and their leaders, and achieve workplace sustainability (Abid et al., 2019). Organizational commitment and effective teams in the workplace are crucial for employee attachments and organization success (Wombacher & Felfe, 2017). Erkutlu and Chafra (2019) and Francis and Keegan (2020) found that organizational commitment and employee teams should interact with open communication, which would enhance positive effects on individual performance in the workplace. Researchers have proven that an employee who is effectively committed to the workplace is less likely to leave and is more productive (Tarkang Mary & Ozturen, 2019).

Idealized Influence

Leaders with idealized influence behavior ingrain pride, faith, and respect in their subordinates, which stimulates excitement, importance, awareness, and commitment (Zhu & Bao, 2017). Leaders should influence followers that they are associated with to create a sense of belonging and caring to the organization. Employee commitment is essential in achieving organizational success and the ability for leaders to lead their employees

(Marchalina & Ahmad, 2017). Leaders' values, beliefs, and ethical positions have a significant effect on employees' work performance (Babalola et al., 2018). Leaders' strategies that influence employees would increase commitment, morale, and productivity in the workplace (Bush et al., 2019; Zhu & Bao, 2017). Leaders who share organization vision, encourage positive attitudes, and express concerns that influence positive employees behavior would increase productivity (Jauhari et al., 2017). Leaders who give employees rewards and recognition and the ability to think and solve problems would influence employees to perform beyond expectations (Carbonell & Rodriguez-Escudero, 2016; Crome et al., 2019; Milner & Furnham, 2017). Koo et al. (2019) and Mayes et al. (2017) asserted that giving rewards is a tool to communicate to employees their value contributing to success in the workplace, which would increase productivity and morale, but overtime employees become accustomed to their awards, and the tool would be less useful. When leaders apply a high-quality work relationship with their employees, they see an increase in commitment, morale, and productivity (Ragins et al., 2017).

Other Leadership Theories

Kumar and Khiljee (2016) identified a successful leader from six theories: (a) great man theory, (b) trait theory, (c) behavioral theory, (d) contingency theory, (e) transactional leadership, and (f) transformational leadership. According to Kumar and Khiljee, the leader relationship in each of these six theories is an essential part of research. The modern history of how to lead goes back as far as the 1840s "great man" theory that leaders are naturally born to be leaders, and not made to be leaders (Chatterjee et al., 2017). In the early 20th century, trait theory evolved from the great man theory

(Styron & Styron, 2017). Trait theory is when leaders have inherited observable patterns of behavior such as physical, personality, feelings, and social skills that are unteachable, and the individual is already suitable to be a leader (Kumar & Khiljee, 2016; Morris et al., 2017). Leadership theory changed between the late 1940s and early 1950s to the behavioral theory that states that a leader is not born to be a leader, but taught to become a leader (Kumar & Khiljee, 2016). Kumar and Khiljee asserted that behavioral leaders have traits such as a strong personality, confidence, honesty, respect, engagement, and communicative to lead successfully.

In the 1960s, the contingency theory was developed; much like the trait theory, the leader relied on the sense of human traits that relates to the situation in the workplace to improve productivity (Williams et al., 2017). In the late 1960s, the situational theory was developed to attempt to match a leadership style based on the variables in the workplace (Zigarmi & Roberts, 2017). Transactional leadership theory evolved around the late 1900s based on the transaction between the leader and the followers, and for transactional leadership theory to be effective, the leaders establish a reinforcing environment at which the organizational goals are in sync with rewards (Martinez-Corcoles & Stephanou, 2017; Shafagatova & Van Looy, 2020). Transformational leadership theory was developed in the 1970s as a leadership approach to influencing the need for change and inspiring positive changes in the workplace with their employees to create a stable relationship within the organization, which relates to trust, vision, and passion for inspiring others (Koohang & Hatch, 2017). Leader perception would affect how followers would respond to their leader in the workplace. Because I wanted to view

my findings from the interactional perspective in the workplace, I chose the transformational leadership theory as the conceptual framework for this study. By researching leaders' interaction with followers, I developed strategies to increase morale and productivity in the workplace.

Factors and Issues Affecting Workplace Performance

Workplace performance has positive and negative variables that would influence the outcome of success (Saeidi et al., 2015). Negative variables that would contribute to a decrease in employee morale and productivity would be from bullying, gossip, stress, sexual harassment, workplace wellness, financial, motivation, and leadership. O'Connell and O'Sullivan (2014) asserted that workplace productivity and morale deteriorate when these negative variables originate in the workplace, and Zhou et al. (2017) argued that negative variables could lead to a high turnover rate in the organization. Tiesman et al. (2015) added that negative variables contribute to suicides at an estimated \$45 billion US dollars in workers' loss and medical costs each year. According to Arcy et al. (2014) and Wright (2014), stress is the leading cause of employee absence, low morale, increased turnover, low productivity, increase cost, violence, low self-esteem, depression, substance abuse, and burnout. The positive variables that contribute to an increase in success are open communication, a clear understanding of the company mission, careful hiring, work-life flexibility, competitive pay and benefits, and just having a fun time during work (Eller et al., 2014; Haar et al., 2014; Plester & Hutchison, 2016; Terera & Ngirande, 2014). Leaders could use workplace financial performance as a survey instrument to measure success (Edgeman et al., 2015). Lee and Drever (2014) found that

an employee survey is useful to gauge positive and negative variables in the workplace leading to organizational success.

Work-related actions play an essential role in the morale and financial success of a company (Bran & Udrea, 2016). For example, Qureshi et al. (2015) indicated that *mobbing*, a form of hostile behavior from a group of employees in the workplace aimed at a single person, could manifest in moral harassment, bullying, workplace violence, rumors, verbal aggression, and humiliation, which lead to a decrease in workplace performance. Hostile behavior causes occupational stress and results in negative employee behavior in the organization. Qureshi et al. found that mobbing is a significant problem that created a decrease in morale and productivity in the workplace.

A physical workplace has a significant impact on the success of an organization (Kim, 2014). Kim (2014) defined the physical workplace as the spatial arrangement and indoor environment that would have a considerable impact on employee effectiveness, behavior, and performance outcome in the work area. Workplace variables such as lighting, temperature, chairs, the design of the workplace, employee-friendly, and supporting technologies have a powerful impact on employee behavior, other than management (Kim, 2014). Kim emphasized that depending on the employee level of discomfort with theses variables would increase or decrease employees' motivation, morale, and productivity. The physical workplace is a tool to use as advantage to increase morale, motivation, and productivity. According to Kim, employees or equipment would not guarantee success by themselves but could be integrated together to have a balance that could create success. Designing a physical workplace for the employees could

accelerate the speed of success for an organization.

Lanaj and Hollenbeck (2014) stated team building is essential for organizations' performance, and without efficiently managing, the teams would have a reduction in morale and productivity. Tazzini et al. (2013) defined the team as a group of people with the same goals to achieve success. Asrar-ul-Haq and Kuchinke (2016) claimed that leadership styles could profoundly influence team performance and the absence of different leadership styles would lead to reduced morale in the workplace. Team building starts at the top and requires leaders to have an understanding of the workplace to build a team environment by understanding how to lead a team (Smith, 2017). Team building is a crucial, challenging, complex activity, and is a thinking organism used for increasing workplace performance in an organization (Gaynor, 2015).

Team building is a way of engaging employees to work together to meet the same goals at a place of work. Team building is an essential ingredient in building trust, and increasing motivation and morale (Serrat, 2017). Team building requires leaders having attention to relationship building and leading of each employee (Serrat, 2017). High quality coaching and mentoring would encourage individual competencies in an organization for team building and increasing workplace performance. Team building focuses on improving social relations, resolving interpersonal problems, and clarifying different roles that would affect the team functioning in the workplace (Aga et al., 2016). Team building gives a promising advantage for increasing team processes and plays a significant role in transformational leadership and success.

Transformational leadership is a tool to increase workplace performance by

increasing positive variables to influence the outcome of success from employees. Transformational leadership is a style used by leaders to encourage individuals of the need for change by inspiring motivation, growth, morale, values, and principles of conduct (Tse & Chiu, 2014). Transformational leadership behavior of leaders contributes to organizational success through the coaching and mentoring process by enhancing the team process, which provides an increase in workplace performance (Aga et al., 2016). The transformational leader typically leads followers to a higher standard of achievement by enabling them to achieve personal growth, and the ability to solve problems in new ways (Effelsberg et al., 2014). To lead followers, leaders need to have the capacity to learn and mentor the followers so that they would also gain leadership skills and accountability in the workplace. Through transformational learning, leaders would develop diversity in multiple roles and responsibilities throughout the organization to teach subordinates (Drago-Severson & Blum-Destefano, 2014). According to Dean (2016), learning is essential for increasing workplace performance because education supports new skills and knowledge to fulfill the responsibility for optimizing human and organizational growth. By using perceptual and objective financial performance measurement, leaders could make decisions that have a positive impact on organizational performance (Saunila et al., 2014). Workplace performance measurement (WPM) is a quantifiable system that organizations use to control organizational behavior to exceed the target performance (Koufteros et al., 2014). According to Spekle and Verbeeten (2014), production-measuring systems affect organizational performance by measurable pre-set performance targets, which would guide operations toward the workplace goals.

Leaders of the workplace using the WPM tool would outperform other organizations that fail to use a WPM tool to increase productivity. The most successful measurement is from productivity, which gives organization performance, followed by profitability outcomes, capital market value, quality, and human resource performance (Zhang et al., 2014). It is also necessary to measure or monitor job satisfaction because employees' attitudes directly relate to the success of the organization by how employees perform their job (Judge et al., 2017).

Job Satisfaction

Hur et al. (2015) defined employee job satisfaction as a temperamental state that could encourage service quality and customer fulfillment by facilitating employee emotional behavior. Job satisfaction is critical to productivity and morale in any workplace. In fact, leader behaviors can have a role in improving job satisfaction and morale. A satisfied employee would positively contribute to the success and growth of the workplace, while the unsatisfied employee would contribute negatively to the workplace (Amarneh & Muthuveloo, 2020; Samson & Babu, 2017). Occupational stress contributes to the employees' burn out, job satisfaction, and physical well-being as well as mental health (Khamisa et al., 2015). To understand the impact on morale in an organization, researchers also have to study the impact on morale and productivity from job satisfaction. Iwu and Holzemer (2014) explained job satisfaction as expressed feelings that can be from emotional rewards, accomplishments, prestige, and positive morale in the organization. Employees reported having an increase in morale from (a) confidence, (b) sense of emotional reward, (c) accomplishments, and (d) prestige in the workplace. Subordinates also reported that having peer support and a trusting relationship with their leaders build a healthier work environment (Iwu & Holzemer, 2014). Researchers have shown that the work climate has a significant impact on employee satisfaction in the organization when everyone can work together as a team (Palvalin, 2017).

Minor et al. (2014) defined job morale as how employees perceive their work climate regarding belonging and motivation toward accomplishing workplace goals. Good morale is outstanding for building a healthy work environment, and leaders attend to pay no attention or little thought into increasing morale in the workplace. Minor et al. extended that other researchers advocated that morale is the key to the organizations' well-being and associated with workplace stress. Minor et al. emphasized that there are six aspects of morale among employees in the workplace. The six aspects of morale among employees would include the feelings of attitudes toward leadership, status, appraisal accomplishments and failures, future outlook, belonging to the workplace, and sacrificing in different work situations. Mahmood et al. (2019) and Minor et al. stated that prior studies described employee morale as relations with leaders, attitude toward supervisors, material rewards for meeting goals, relationship with coworkers, and intrinsic job satisfaction. A positive workplace plays a significant role in building a healthier work environment (Geue, 2018). Minor et al. reported that there is a link between having a closer relationship with fellow workers and employee morale, which would result in creating a healthy work climate. Minor et al. indicated that organization leaders play a significant role in increasing morale and building a healthier work

environment. When leaders of the workplace respect their subordinates, worker leader relationships improve, which would increase morale in the workplace, but subordinates would still have to accept and follow directives given by leaders of the organization. Derby-Davis (2014) confirmed that appreciation in the workplace also builds job satisfaction in the organization in which creates a healthier workplace.

Minor et al. (2014) indicated that job morale is the basis to which subordinates feel good about their job in which they have a sense of comfort in affinity and are motivated to accomplish organizational goals. Employees that are satisfied with their job feel a sense of comfort would be motivated to expand to achieve the organizations' directives. Minor et al. confirmed that employee cooperation creates a positive atmosphere and aids in a more productive workplace, which would enhance morale and productivity, and would create a healthier work environment. The employees that are supportive and pleasant to work with would provide quality work, positive atmosphere, and a healthier work environment.

Turnover

Shi et al. (2017) reported that employee turnover is costing organizations millions of dollars annually in: (a) sales, (b) reassigning, and (c) replacing staff. Turnover is a universal problem; therefore, business leaders are looking for ways to convince employees to remain in the organization (Luo et al., 2017). According to Kim and Fernandez (2017) reducing turnover has been an ongoing goal for many organizations, and Hom et al. (2017) added that employee turnover had brought attention to many scholars because researchers want to find out why employees leave. Javed et al. (2014) found that employees who do not enjoy their place at work would leave for another job, and preventing turnover is essential to organizational success. Basterretxea and Storey (2018) confirmed that to avoid turnover and to increase job satisfaction employees need to work together as a team. Wombacher and Felfe (2017) added employees that are emotionally attached to other employees within the organization would not have the desire to leave. A flexible work schedule could reduce employee turnover, which would result in higher levels of productivity and morale in an organization (Lexa & Fessell, 2017), and Javed et al. (2014) added that companies prosper when keeping high morale among employees, and satisfied employees are likely to stay with the company. Patterson-Silver Wolf et al. (2013) defined high morale as a work approach affiliated with workplace stability, a clear understanding of work directives, and supportive leaders in the workplace. Leadership style plays an essential role in employee satisfaction in the workplace and turnover. Havold and Havold (2019) asserted that good leadership behaviors contribute to stimulating motivation to increase in the workplace, improving morale in the organization, increasing productivity, and promoting teamwork with fellow employees. Therefore, management should try to identify which leadership style can stimulate motivation, morale, and productivity to increase employee workplace satisfaction. Dhiman et al. (2019) and Stater and Stater (2018) and Zineldin (2017) found that negative leadership behaviors contribute to an unhealthy workplace leading to an increase in turnover, low morale and productivity, and a decrease in motivation.

Workplace Conflict

Almeida et al. (2017); Jimmieson et al. (2017); and Ralph et al. (2017) defined

conflict as an encounter between an individual with a different agreement, opinion, values, and intentions which affect the other in a negative aspect. Conflict in the workplace is inevitable due to different opinions, but how leaders resolve conflict contributed to a negative or positive workplace (Yuksel et al., 2017). Coleman et al. (2014) found that conflict resolution theory is a tool for solving a dispute by the selection of interventions. Therefore, understanding how to manage conflict would prevent destructive behaviors in the workplace. Destructive behaviors create a negative impact on teams, and unresolved conflict can lead to retaliation (Fraher, 2017; Jimmieson et al., 2017). Jimmieson et al. found that interpersonal conflict in the workplace is a social stressor, which leads to the employee being unhealthy, and overtime could strengthen into extreme forms of conflict if not resolved. Two types of interpersonal conflict are task-oriented and relationship-oriented, which pertain to differences in the workplace (Jimmieson et al., 2017). Task-oriented conflict is the contrast to performing the work, and relationship-oriented conflict is a discrepancy from the relationship between the individuals (Jimmieson et al., 2017). Van Niekerk et al. (2017) added that a healthy and effective conflict exists in teams that are functioning effectively and Kalambo and Parikh (2017) informed that healthy conflict could stimulate innovation and productivity whereas an unhealthy conflict causes a loss in trust and productivity.

Understanding and appreciating various opinions that result in conflict were crucial in the resolution. According to Gao et al. (2017), conflict resolution is essential in maintaining a friendship in the workplace, which keeps destructive behaviors from escalating. The conventional approach in the workplace is to access the situation for the detrimental strife that would be destructive and disruptive, and address the ones causing the conflict and refer the case to an investigation or mediation (Shahzad et al., 2020). Hershcovis et al. (2018) found that by leaders ignoring conflict would result in emotional exhaustion, target-enacted incivility, and lowering the ability to forgive. Confronting the argument would bring out the positive outcome and psychological forgiveness, which result in a healthy workplace (Hershcovis et al., 2018). Communication is crucial to discuss the impact on the workplace with the individuals that are in conflict and agree to a resolution (Overall & McNulty, 2017). Once the individuals start to communicate, the leader can reveal the nature of the conflict and establish a position to resolve. Leaders should list facts, assumptions, beliefs, agreements, opinions, values, and intentions to analyze for a resolution. Leaders should also take a break to think about the decision and convene back to reach an agreement with the individuals. Further analysis is required to agree with the individuals about what needs to be done to come to a conflict resolution (Legault et al., 2017).

A tool to resolve conflict is the Thomas-Kilmann conflict mode that gives leaders an understanding of typical behavior in conflict situations based on two dimensions assertiveness and cooperativeness (Brock et al., 2017; Rao, 2017). Rao (2017) extended that the two dimensions of behavior define five different types of conflict-handling modes, competing, accommodating, avoiding, compromising, and collaborating. Competing is the process in which the party is competing aggressively to win using any technique even at others' expense because they want to win no matter the circumstance. Accommodating is when the party sacrifices their needs for the other to be satisfied. According to Kazansky and Andrassy (2019), avoiding the conflict occurs when a leader postpones the decision on the dispute to obtain more facts about the dispute; in such a case, no side wins the conflict. A compromising conflict is a process where both parties can give up something to resolve the dispute, which satisfies both parties. Collaborating takes longer due to jointly working together to find a solution to the conflict, and once coming to an agreement builds friendships with both parties (Rao, 2017). In resolving conflict leaders need to (a) not look for blame, (b) insist on honesty, (c) have open communication, (d) practice active listening, and (e) build trust (Hood et al., 2015; Meyer et al., 2017).

Creasy and Carnes (2017) found that destructive conflict decreases morale and productivity in the workplace, and therefore there needs to a preventive measure. Kiburz et al. (2017) found that leaders who offer preventive conflict awareness training to employees reduce conflict in the workplace. To create a healthier work environment, Lohr et al. (2017) found that conflict management programs are successful in reducing conflict and improving productivity and morale in an organization. Conflict management programs give the leader the ability to handle employee disputes and learn how to be efficient in managing conflict in an organization. The leader of the workplace would act as a mediator, counselor, and arbitrator during the conflict to resolve the situation and increase productivity (Diebig et al., 2016). Anthony-Mcmann et al. (2016), Barreiro and Treglown (2020), and Choi (2019) found that leaders' engagement with employees is essential for positive work-related outcomes such as job satisfaction, which decreases conflict and increases productivity. Irving (2019), Woodrow and Guest (2016) added that leaders with emotional intelligence and open communication could identify the conflict of others and can manage the conflict before it escalates into a more significant problem. Khalili (2017) defined emotional intelligence as the ability to identify emotions and to use the information to make a wise decision. A leader with emotional intelligence can improve organizational behavior (Khalili, 2017). Leaders with emotional intelligence have an understanding of individuals' feelings, emotions, and can create a positive working environment that would increase productivity and morale.

Ethical Leadership Theory

Zoghbi-Manrique-De-Lara and Viera-Armas (2017) found that when ethical leaders discuss rules and values and lead by example regarding ethics, they motivate the employees. Ethical leaders with a positive attitude influence followers' attitudes and behaviors (Walumbwa et al., 2017). Positive implications build commitment, job satisfaction, morale, trust, and task performance, which increase productivity in the workplace (Davis, 2020; Muhammed & Soumyaja, 2019). Walumbwa et al. (2017) found that organizations that promote ethical leadership in the workplace increase employees' ability to deal with conflict situations and decrease misbehavior. Babalola et al. (2019) extended that moral reflectiveness would encourage ethical behavior in leaders to fulfill their leadership roles and responsibilities. An ethical leader would have to behave in a way to actively listen, commit, and discuss unethical behaviors, and become a role model to the employees.

Moral reflective learning is the process in which ethical leaders would learn how to listen actively, commit, discuss unethical behavior, and become a role model to the employees. Through moral reflective training, leaders would have an understanding of ethical concepts, theories, and rational decision-making to become successful leaders. Through moral reflection learning, a leader would recognize challenges and develop social skills that would shape moral behavior to be successful in the workplace (Hedberg, 2017). Mo and Shi (2015) included that ethical leadership principles are crucial in the workplace for influencing moral attitude and behavior, which places stress on the leader to be a role model for the employees. Ethical principles include respect for others, service to others, justice for others, and honesty toward others (Erkutlu & Chafra, 2017; Li et al., 2015). Developing leadership skills is a continuous process of learning and growing which requires actions from the organization followed by training, mentoring, coaching, and role-playing (Fluckiger et al., 2017).

Team Player

When I think of a team player, I think of a football team. To be a successful team takes all players working together and with one individual not being part of the team, the team could be unsuccessful. The coach is the leader who builds the team to be successful. A team works the same way in the workplace with employees; they all have to work together to be successful, and the leader is the coach. The leader builds morale and productivity in the workplace. Mach and Lvina (2017) found that without a trusting leader, the team would fail. All team members have to trust the leader and not just the majority to have a winning team. Mach and Lvina included two types of trust, (a) in the leader and (b) among team players. The development of a robust team relationship would increase morale and productivity in the workplace.

In a workplace, individuals who cause negativity are non-team players, and those who are team players want to succeed and have a positive outlook. Krumm et al. (2016) found that there are two types of team players, virtual and traditional. According to Do and Nuth (2019) and Schulze and Krumm (2017) and Vega-Zamora et al. (2019), a virtual team consists of individuals, regardless of their location, collaborating through communication and information technology to accomplish a common goal. Virtual team would interact by completing a common goal that the leader establishes. The interaction between high instrumental employees drives motivation, which increases productivity and morale in the workplace (John et al., 2019; Schulze & Krumm, 2017). Challenges from having virtual teams would include distance, communication, collaborating, establishing norms, and seeing the player face-to-face. Benefield et al. (2016) found that traditional workgroups working within proximity and having interactions with each other would be more productive. Benefield et al. extended that virtual teams are becoming more common due to online software that improves team face-to-face interaction and these interactions increases productivity and morale worldwide. According to Schulze and Krumm, virtual team players need to be motivated to learn new skills and to handle the challenges from technology use, increase in workload, cultural differences, and geographic location.

According to Lacerenza et al. (2018), leaders who are unavailable to be with their teams due to workloads would influence non-team building in the organization. Leaders must be available to foster team improvement, provide tools necessary for individuals to solve their problems, which would build team motivation (Lacerenza et al., 2018).

Employees must come first, and leaders need to be available when called upon by their team. If employees do not have support or guidance from their leader, they would not know what to do to meet their goals in the workplace, and motivation would decrease in the workplace (Janes, 2018). Trust within teams increases morale, and conflict decreases morale in organizations. Leaders need to be involved with teams and to dedicate themselves to improving trust to build workplace relations. Hughes et al. (2018) found that workplace relations build morale, which increases performance in individuals and teams. Ozyilmaz et al. (2018) concluded in their study that when employee trust is high within an organization, job satisfaction increases, and when trust is low organization turnover increases, and employee performance decreases. It is a fact that employee trust in the workplace is required to increase morale. Leaders need to have emotional intelligence, so they can be aware of the team needs and have an open-door policy to stay in touch. Lee and Chelladurai (2017) found that leaders' emotions in the workplace have a significant impact on the attitudes and behaviors of employees.

Emotional intelligence

Leadership development plays a crucial role in increasing morale within an organization. To have an effective leadership program, human resource managers need to understand personality traits, which contribute to the understanding of emotional intelligence in the workplace (Miao et al., 2018). Miao et al. (2018) found that leaders can influence employees by being trained in emotional intelligence and can increase morale in the workplace which leads to an increase in job performance, job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and lower turnover intentions. An engaged leader who

assesses the emotions and the psychological states of their subordinates can influence employees' motivation, morale, and performance in the workplace (Hidayah Ibrahim et al., 2019; Prati & Karriker, 2018). According to Lumpkin and Achen (2018), an emotionally intelligent leader has self-awareness, empathy, self-regulation, motivation, empathy, and social skill to help followers break old workplace habits. Inceoglu et al. (2018) found that leadership behavior influences employees' well-being in the workplace furthermore increases job satisfaction, work engagement, morale, and decreases stress and burnout.

A perfect leader is the one who can handle their temper in any situation, has employee trust, is a good team listener, has an open-door policy, has the ability to inspire, and can make educated decisions (Martin, 2018). Leaders with emotional intelligence have self-awareness and understand how their emotions can affect the people around them. Leaders who can control their emotions and actions can control employees' morale in the workplace (Langner et al., 2018). Leaders who discipline their emotions and contain them would be able to control the team morale.

Leadership Behavior

Organizations leaders employ many techniques to increase morale and overall productivity within the organization. One technique is leaders being mindful of their subordinates' behaviors by paying attention to the present situation in the workplace and reacting based on their emotions. According to Lange et al. (2018), being mindful has many benefits, including employee well-being and performance in the workplace. The other important aspect of increasing employee well-being and performance in a

workplace is transformational leadership. Transformational leadership is a useful practice for inspiring vision, fostering morale, and encouraging teamwork throughout the organization to perform above expectations (Lange et al., 2018). According to Lange et al., mindful leaders are leaders who are more effective and have revealed positive outcomes from subordinates in the workplace. Being aware of thoughts, emotions, actions, and being attentive in the work area enables the leader to respond to the needs of the employees, which promotes empathic (Lange et al., 2018). According to Lippincott (2018), a mindful leader manages team emotions within the organization to influence behaviors and to improve workplace performance. Organization leaders have a special gift to regulate employees' behavior to improve morale within the workplace. Yao and Huang (2018) found that leadership behavior is a process in leading personnel with certain methods and actions to achieve goals set by the workplace. Mindful leaders can encourage personnel to be confident, reinforce professional behavior, influence job satisfaction, increase morale, and guide the team to achieve workplace objectives (Yao & Huang, 2018). The demanding leader who is not mindful and treats employees with highpressure orders would lose loyalty, interaction, and not achieve workplace goals. Yao and Huang found that leadership is a two-way interaction between subordinates and leaders. An organization should provide training for leaders to be mindful of promoting a high level of success of the employees. An organization can have a very competitive climate to be successful, providing that the mindfulness training is available to employees. According to Kersemaekers et al. (2018), mindfulness training improves morale, wellbeing, and production output. A high level of success would benefit from organization

leaders being mindful of actions that increase the success of their employees. A trained mindful leader who interacts with subordinates would reap the rewards from this leadership technique. According to Schuh et al. (2019), mindfulness leaders can effectively harness a high level of employee morale in any workplace.

Leaders become mindful by organizations investing in developing individuals to recognize the emotions of subordinates and to make changes accordingly to improve morale within the workplace. Mindfulness training, if offered, would improve health, morale, performance, productivity, and team climate. According to Pinck and Sonnentag (2017), leaders and subordinates mindfulness contributes to an increase in morale, wellbeing, productivity, and job satisfaction. Training leaders to pay attention to the current situation and developing a mindful attitude leads to better leader-employee relations (Reb et al., 2018). Reb et al. (2018) found that leader stress would pass to employees, which in turn influences employee negative behavior. If the employee stresses the leader, in turn, the leader would stress the employee. The employee needs to be mindful of the current situation and develop a mindful attitude of their actions. Leaders and subordinates that can control their emotion are less likely to have a negative attitude in the workplace. According to Reb, negative attitudes in the workplace contribute to an unproductive working relationship among coworkers, in turn, decrease morale, well-being, and job satisfaction. Training would open the employee or leader to observe, reflect, and respond in a manner to increase morale in the workplace. The mindless employees are the ones who do not pay attention or have any awareness of the consequences of current reactions. A mindful employee makes sense of events and actions that would have a positive impact on the organization (Donaldson-Feilder et al., 2018). Stress affects morale in the organization (Vaclavik et al., 2018). Mindfulness interventions reduce stress, which improves morale, empathy, well-being, productivity and less emotional exhaustion (Vaclavik et al., 2018).

Vaclavik et al. (2018) found that a four-week training program in mindfulness intervention is more effective than an eight-week program. After the four-week training session, employees had a feeling of being not exhausted and had a higher level of control and satisfaction in the work area (Vaclavik et al., 2018). The class training included specific questions that pertain to stress in the workplace and mindfulness intervention. According to Vaclavik et al., the training provides mindfulness interventions that have an impact on a stressful environment and in turn, increases morale. Rose et al. (2017) found that mindfulness-based stress reduction training enables employees to develop automatic acceptance into mindfulness interventions. Students learn how to use mindfulness to respond to emotions in the workplace from others' insight into unpleasant experiences in the workplace. Rose et al. identified that mindfulness-based stress reduction could improve psychological health, coping with work, mindfulness, which would facilitate positive change in the workplace. According to Molek-Winiarska and Zolnierczyk-Zreda (2018), mindfulness-based stress reduction training is an effective intervention to improve morale, well-being, employee health, and productivity in the workplace. Mindful learners become metacognitive about thinking before acting. Duan and Ho, (2018) added that applying mindful learning techniques would enhance a wide range of interventions that would facilitate employees' well-being in the workplace. Jin et al. (2018) found

mindful leaders learn from the past workplace crisis and find ways to prepare by being mindful of patterns, changes, norms, and trends that would contribute to a workplace dilemma. Jin et al. added that leaders who are mindful of past event or experiences would be confident in the ability to lead, which would promote morale in the workplace due to having a mindset to resolving current situations.

The employees that are not mindful attend to operate without cognition, empathy, and behaviors, and mindful employees have a focus on moment-to-moment experiences (Lawrie et al., 2018). According to Antonacopoulou and Bento, (2018), a mindful leader who recognizes the past work experiences and is engaged mindfully with lived experiences can learn to lead in ways to make a difference in the workplace. Leaders being mindful of the past and present are being mindful of learning for leadership development. Antonacopoulou and Bento expressed that leaders need to be able to deal with change, complexity, context, and connectedness in the workplace to be good leaders. Leaders who have the willingness to learn would continue to grow to their full leadership potential. Leadership skills are essential in the workplace for directing teams, individuals, and corporations towards a better outcome for tomorrow. According to Gobble (2018), mindless leaders are always on autopilot, distracted, and cannot focus and be aware of their surroundings. Marques (2017) found meditation achieves mindfulness; mindless actions result in adverse effects in the workplace. According to Marques, having mindful thinking is from having mental focus. Leaders who have mental focus would listen, think, then react with constructive words to improve morale in the workplace, and according to Coe (2017), negative words are hurtful to an individual. According to Marques, leaders

take things for granted until they learn from their experiences and become mindful. Marques found that meditation techniques sharpen the mind that would enable employees to be mindful in the workplace. Leaders should increase morale by being mindful in the workplace by first listening, thinking, and responding in a way to have a positive effect (Marques, 2017).

Buchanan et al. (2018) concluded that sexual and racial harassment contributes to negative psychological well-being inside and outside of the workplace. According to Buchanan et al., half of the adult women encountered sexual harassment in the workplace, and this would have an adverse effect on the organizations' well-being. Leaders who are mindful of the situation and share mindfulness techniques with their employees would increase well-being and morale in the workplace (Gervais & Eagan, 2017). Sexual harassment in the workplace can happen to men or women, is a violation of human rights, and causes job tension and work-to-family conflict (Dean, 2018). Positive social change from employees being mindful may improve employee morale and well-being in the workplace. Other workplace benefits from the employee being mindful would include less absenteeism and an increase in productivity and profitability.

Absenteeism

According to Martin and Matiaske (2017), stress-causing events such as hostile behavior would proliferate absenteeism, and stressful working conditions increase the likelihood to escalate harmful behavior in the workplace. Leaders who are already mindful of employee stress-causing behaviors can teach employees to be cognizant of others, and the working relationship would prevail (Martin & Matiaske, 2017). Martin and Matiaske found that the best way for employees to avoid stress is to stay away from work. According to Martin and Matiaske, high levels of stress can trigger latent aggressive feelings, which in turn, increase the employee's desire to do evil toward coworkers. Martin and Matiaske added stress triggers could be from workplace heat, noise, workloads, and poor working conditions in the facility. These decisions to do evil would create an atmosphere of stress and tension that would decrease employees' morale and well-being as well as organizational profitability.

Martin and Matiaske (2017) found that workplace stress could have emotional and physical consequences that never end for an employee. According to M.B. Nielsen et al. (2017), dramatic stress influences the probability of anxiety, sadness, and other types of mental health problems. Stress takes on many forms of behavior, and an interactive situation could develop between employees to develop conflict in the workplace. The leader who is mindful of the situation takes control and gives emotional relief from the conflict that could result in employee interaction (Martin & Matiaske, 2017). High stress in the workplace contributes to the probability of harmful behavior in the workplace. According to Martin and Matiaske, social stressors increase absence in the workplace and directly affect employee morale and well-being. Workplace stressors is a contributor to a decrease in productivity, profitability, morale, and the well-being of employees' (Shuck et al., 2017).

Workplace absenteeism leads to low employee morale and well-being, and socially harmful behavior in the work environment affects performance (Martin & Matiaske, 2017). To decrease stress in the work environment, a leader should be mindful of socially harmful behavior and remove the cause of hostile behavior (Martin & Matiaske, 2017). Mindful interventions are an effective way to reduce stress and increase morale and well-being in the workplace. Workplace stress is a common occurrence in males and females and could have a negative impact on the organization. The cost of workplace stress continues to increase due to individuals experiencing bullying, sexual harassment, and limited promotional opportunities and jobs which contribute to a variety of mental disorders. Older individuals with psychological and physical disorders from stress contribute more to absenteeism, which would negatively affect their morale, productivity, and employee satisfaction in the workplace.

Gilstrap and Bernier (2017) found that individuals cope with stress while working in a stressful environment. These individuals cope with workplace stress by prioritizing, seeking help from other coworkers, keeping perspective, and being active. According to Gilstrap and Bernier, 60% of adult workers claim that their jobs have a considerably stressful environment, and organizations continue to lose an estimated \$200 to \$300 billion from stress-causing illnesses. Employees using coping strategies can fight back from the adverse effects of stress and return to the state of not being stressed (Gilstrap & Bernier, 2017). Gilstrap and Bernier added that by identifying problems, planning, and altering stressors by taking breaks physically and mentally disengaging from work, an individual could cope with stress, which would positively affect employee morale, social well-being, satisfaction, and productivity in the workplace.

Gilstrap and Bernier (2017) concluded that individuals should manage their workplace stress and have programs in place to cope with stress in the workplace.

Organizations are providing employees with outlets, programs, and professional help to mentally, physically, and emotionally cope with stress in the work environment (Gilstrap & Bernier, 2017). Kersh (2018) found coping with stress to be beneficial to personal health and without coping would have psychological impacts. Taking on more than one job in the workplace can lead to job stress, strain, and typical burnout in the workplace if the individual does not act quickly on coping with stress (Kersh, 2018). Employees experience burnout from ongoing or repetitive stress and not coping with the issues (Mansour & Tremblay, 2018). According to Olsen et al. (2018), organizations that offer flexible work schedules for their employees contribute to employees' well-being and less stress. Well-being and less stress correlate to the employees' having less burnout and turnover in the workplace.

Work-family conflict continues to increase due to an increase in single parents, and both husband and wife are working (Kuo et al., 2018). Kuo et al. (2018) found that fathers are now more involved in raising their children since wives are also working that puts more stress on husbands and wives and increases work-family conflict. Mansour and Tremblay (2018) found that family conflict contributes to an increase in job stress, burnout, and intentions to leave the workplace. Intention to leave a job is a reaction from an employee being burnt-out from not being able to cope with stress in the workplace (Chiang & Liu, 2017). According to Wang and Peng (2017), family and work conflict, contribute to job dissatisfaction, depression, and burnout and have negative effects on employee well-being. Family conflict adds to the stress in the workplace and increases harmful outcomes; organizations need to have the social responsibility to fulfill employee professional and family roles (Mansour & Tremblay, 2018).

Kangas et al. (2017) found that unethical workplace leads to employees feeling exhausted and burnt-out, which contributes to their absence. Kangas et al. concluded that a workplace with a strong ethical culture has less absence and creates a better ground to increase employee morale, well-being, and productivity. An ethical culture in the workplace comes from having a leader with a strong ethical background (Walumbwa et al., 2017). According to Hewlin et al. (2017), a leader has to have the integrity to lead the workplace or organization. According to Moutousi and May (2018), an unethical leader would have an unethical workplace, which would increase turnover. Unethical behavior in the workplace can decrease productivity, satisfaction, and employee morale (Moutousi & May, 2018). According to Thiel et al. (2018), ethical leaders in the workplace can create a high-quality relationship with their employees by setting expectations for appropriate conduct for the subordinates. Subordinates then react from feeling an obligation to the desired behaviors. Thiel et al. found an ethical leader to be very beneficial to the workplace to increase morale and productivity. Ethical leaders are moral persons who influence employees' ethical behavior in the workplace (Thiel et al., 2018).

Epistemic Virtues

According to Javed et al. (2018), ethical leaders can have a positive influence on subordinates' behavior in the workplace. An ethical leader has a moral identity and leads by example, by doing the right thing base on the organizational policies. According to Engelbrecht et al. (2017), an ethical leader leads with openness to input from employees, making fair decisions based on company policies, and is an overall role model for the organization. Javed et al. added that organizations that have ethical leaders could increase employees' morale, creativity, cooperation, information sharing, and openness within the workplace. Ethical leaders have epistemic virtues that can process ethical situations based on being open-minded and having knowledge. Javed et al. found that being open-minded, able to think carefully, creative, and capable of making wise decisions are the supporting structure for having epistemic virtues. Open-minded leaders attend to listen carefully to what others have to say, think carefully, and entertain the thought. Open-minded employees are interested in new ideas, views, knowledge of others, taking a risk, and creativity (Javed et al., 2018). Failure makes ethical leaders stronger, and openness to employees' builds trust and creativity. The openness to experiences is the moderating effect, which increases the relationship between an employee and the leader. Employees not having confidence in the leader would be reluctant to come forward with new ideas and would not communicate with the leader (Javed et al., 2018). Employees, who do not correspond to the leader would decrease the morale and growth in the organization. If trust exists with the employees, subordinates would be willing to communicate their new ideas without fear of repercussions (Javed et al., 2018). According to Walsh et al. (2018), ethical leadership behaviors foster how employees react at work. Leaders who mistreat employees do not receive any new ideas and would be a target for losing the respect of others (Walsh et al., 2018). Walsh et al. found empirical evidence that workplace incivility would harm morale, job satisfaction, motivation, commitment, and productivity in the workplace. Coworkers and even other leaders could encourage criticism of leaders, which would lead to employees being guarded and distant with leaders. A general rule is

to keep criticism to oneself, especially if the criticism offends the other individual. According to Chen and Ayoun (2019), unacceptable criticism has adverse effects on employees, and receiving negative criticism would be retaliation in the workplace. An ethical leader tends to influence followers' outcomes through ethical decisions by being mindful of knowing how to respond to unethical and ethical behaviors in the workplace (Walsh et al., 2018).

According to Walsh et al. (2018), all organizations have workplace norms that foster respect for leader behavior and curb unethical behavior in the workplace. Workplace norms guide appropriate conduct by having mutual respect, listening first before answering, being prepared for daily meetings and continuing to strive for improving, and achieving organizational goals as a team (Walsh et al., 2018). According to Hershcovis et al. (2017), respectful treatment sends a message to employees that everyone is part of the workplace team. An unethical employee sends a message to the employees that they do not belong. Hershcovis et al. found that incivility in the workplace is comparable to the effect of an abusive leader and bullying, which has an adverse impact on employee morale and productivity. Leaders who mistreat their employee have a more significant impact then coworkers abusing each other in the workplace (Hershcovis et al., 2017). According to Walsh et al., an ethical leader listens to employees, makes fair decisions, discusses ethics and values with employees, and reduces incivility. Organizations should seek to reduce employee mistreatment by leaders acquiring ethical leadership behavior, which would increase morale and productivity in the workplace. The leaders could obtain from training how respectful norms are

developed and how certain activities disrupt respectful norms from forming in the workplace. Leaders could obtain from training how certain norms could disrupt morale in the workplace. According to Marchiondo et al. (2018), learning facets are essential to increasing employees' performance, productivity, improvement, and morale.

Leadership Learning and Acting

The leadership training would give opportunities for leaders to learn the skills necessary to manage employees in a way to build trust, motivation, and morale. The training should consist of students learning the skills to influence others, communicate, make decisions, think, understand others, and can apply this knowledge to increase morale in the workplace. According to Peck (2018), organizations have identified work ethics, problem solving, communication, teamwork, and leadership as very important for employers to build success in the workplace. Engaging leaders in a leadership program would give leaders competence in managing a workforce. An effective leadership program would inspire employees and encourage innovation, which would affect organization teams and performance outcomes (Karam et al., 2018). Sousa and Rocha (2019) found that game-based learning is crucial in building the leadership skills necessary to increase productivity and morale in the workplace. Games-based learning is a design based on virtual world experiences that leaders may encounter while playing the game. The game allows leaders to fail and develop the skills necessary to become effective leaders. By failing in the game, nothing is lost versus failing in the real-world environment could have repercussions. According to Karam et al. (2018), leaders having effective behavior in the workplace are connective to positive employee outcomes.

Therefore, the leader-employee behavior is one of the essential parts to control the organization outcomes in productivity. According to Sousa and Rocha (2019), an effective leader's behavior provides skills, motivation, support, and feedback so employees can be successful in the workplace. An effective leader gives positive feedback for reinforcing behavior and defines the new employee behavior to increase performance in the organization (Sousa & Rocha, 2019). Positive interaction between the leader and the employee would have a crucial impact on the workforce.

Winton et al. (2018) found that the complexity leadership theory applied to leadership programs would provide the framework for strengthening leaders' understanding the competence in the workplace. Complexity leadership theory encourages leaders to learn and adapt to employees' behaviors (Winton et al., 2018). Leadership behavior is of great importance to drive high levels of success in the workplace. According to Horvat and Filipovic (2017), complexity leadership theory would improve workplace performance by leaders being able to make specific outcomes possible. These outcomes would be from leaders behaving in a way to increase subordinates' productivity and morale. According to Moin (2018), the perception of leaders' actions would have a positive or negative influence on subordinates. Positive perception increases commitment, morale, productivity, trust, and negative perception would do the opposite. Emotions drive success and are part of the leadership role to influence followers to increase morale and productivity. According to Moin, the understanding of the implication of emotion would be a great benefit for an organization to obtain for leaders to promote emotional efforts that would be helpful for increasing

morale and productivity of subordinates. The leaders' positive or negative feelings towards the employees would increase or decrease workplace morale. The three ways of expressing emotions are surface acting, deep acting, and genuine emotions with the purpose of controlling subordinates' behaviors (Moin, 2018). The first thing is to understand the emotions of the followers, and from understanding the followers' emotion, the leader would know how to behave in a way to promote positive emotional behavior in followers.

Deep acting is the process in which the leader watches the subordinate emotions with the objective of changing emotional response (Moin, 2018). According to Lavy and Eshet (2018), a leader using a deep acting process would change followers' behavior to improve morale, moods, motivation, and productivity. Surface acting is the leader modifying their emotions to the point to disguise their actual emotions by tone of their voice, facial expression, and motion (Moin, 2018). According to Moin (2018), surface acting is more unfavorable with the employees' outcomes. The third emotion, genuine emotion is when leaders combine surface and deep acting and could be beneficial in influencing followers' behaviors (Moin, 2018). These emotional strategies are beneficial for influencing subordinates' productivity and morale in the workplace. Leaders who are fair and can influence subordinate behavior would benefit positively. Karam et al. (2018) found that effective leaders have the ability to influence positive employee outcomes. For one to be a leader, it is an everyday learning experience in the workplace, and it all depends on the individual being proactive in learning.

Karam et al. (2018) found that social exchange relationship theory is the ability

for the leader to have a high degree of interactions and task interdependence with the employees. Karam et al. added that the managerial role theory identifies leaders' decision-making as the number one requirement to being an active leader in the workplace. Karam et al. added that relational leader theory requires a leader to be supporting, recognizing, developing, and empowering the employees. The relational leader can listen, seek input, and have an interaction with individuals or groups that would be beneficial to the company. The change in relationship theory, leaders, have the vision to encourage change, creativity, and to seek alternative solutions in the workplace to complete the offset facing the organization (Karam et al., 2018). In the relationship theory, leaders who practice change could stimulate and encourage employees to take a risk in the workplace. Change could have an impact on organizations if the leader behaves in a way to have a positive effect on the employees.

Compensation

Employees work hard for their employer to get compensation for accomplishing set goals, and compensation affects employee behavior in the organization. According to Lazear (2018), workers alter their behavior if they get paid by hour rather than receive a onetime lump sum payment for completing a task. Employees going from an hourly rate to a onetime lump sum pay out, increase productivity and motivation (Lazear, 2018). Employees attend to complete a job faster knowing that they would be getting a onetime lump sum pay out rather than an hourly rate. The employee's efficiency increases by a fixed rate due to completing the job faster, whereas the hourly rate is less efficient for completing the task because employees would take their time in completing the task to get more compensation. The quick payout for completion of the job increases motivation, morale, and teamwork due to employees working harder to complete the task at hand (Lazear, 2018). Compensation influences employees' effort and incentives affect the behavior that positively influences employees' well-being and morale. According to Lazear, business leaders who use a pay structure determine compensation by mapping out employees' path to growth based on education and job roles. According to K. Nielsen et al. (2017), employees that experience high levels of well-being are happy workers, and happy workers increase morale and perform well to increase productivity in the workplace. Compensation and the structure in the workplace environment are crucial to increasing employee well-being, motivation, and morale.

A supportive leader brings happiness or well-being into the organization. According to Joo and Lee (2017), subordinates are highly productive, engaged, love their career, and feel a sense of happiness when they had a supportive leader. Work behavior is crucial for influencing motivation, well-being, and morale in the workplace. An inefficient and badly-behaved unsupportive leader would bring negativity to the workplace. According to Moore et al. (2019), leaders' behavior could influence unethical behavior in the subordinates that they lead. A supportive leader can affect organizational outcomes, morale, retention, and positively impact subordinates in the workplace (Gordon et al., 2019). According to Fan et al. (2019), and Maccagnan et al. (2018) a supportive leader reinforces family and personal life and being supportive promotes employees' well-being in the workplace. Employees and organizations benefit from supportive leadership in the workplace. When a leader is supportive of their subordinates, employees have more control over their families, stress, and have an acceptable time to spend with their families. A leader can contribute to an employee's stress by not being supportive in letting the employee off in time of need.

Training is the key to an increase in employee perceptions by teaching leaders' behaviors for balancing work and life, leading to a positive work environment (Place & Vardeman-Winter, 2018). Some leaders who never had families may not understand the balance without having the specific training. Incorporating training on employees' behavior would increase productivity, well-being, and morale in the workplace. Leadership behavior workshops would identify topics for the intervention of negative behavior in the workplace. The sustainability of leadership behavior skills would depend on the organization continuing to provide supportive leadership behavior training for the leaders. It is crucial for leaders or the ones that have the opportunity to lead, to have the skills to engage with the employees in a supportive manner. According to Wu and Parker (2017), supportive leadership influences subordinates to behave in a positive way. Organizations that are supportive of employees' needs are central to increasing morale and retaining trained employees. Interpersonal skills are fundamental to increase morale in the workplace. According to Speed et al. (2017), supportive leadership behavior programs are imperative for future leaders for organizations to transform into a supportive workplace.

Montani et al. (2017) found that leaders having strong production ownership, commitment, and supportive leadership stimulate innovative behaviors from employees. Leaders providing subordinates with resources and encouraging them to voice their opinions facilitated innovation, motivation, and morale within a work environment (Johansen & Sowa, 2019; Montani et al., 2017). When leaders provide little support, the employee may be proactive in meeting workplace objectives. Leader engagement is crucial to follow employee workplace behavior to increase productivity and morale. Leaders who work hard themselves toward being supportive in the work area would increase subordinates' productivity (Kurniawaty et al., 2019; Lazear, 2018). Leaders being flexible with employees' schedules and involving them would build a supportive leadership culture that would increase well-being, productivity, and morale.

Leaders play a valuable role in managing subordinates, and depending on the leaders' actions would increase morale and productivity in the workplace. Leaders need to encourage, motivate, award, and be an example for their subordinates to follow in the workplace. Employees like to have compensation for reaching milestones or even for doing an excellent job throughout the year. When employers are unsupported in compensating employees, the employee was less productive in the workplace. A leader needs to be supportive, mindful, and have a positive attitude to be able to increase morale and productivity in the workplace.

Transition

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies used by successful organizational leaders to increase employee morale to improve productivity in their organizations. The review of the professional and academic literature provided information regarding strategies, business organization leaders can use to increase employee morale, which would improve employee well-being, satisfaction, motivation, teams, and mindfulness, to improve productivity. In the literature review, I introduced being mindful, coaching, mentoring, team building, individual control, behaviors, tools, and theories that would affect morale, and methods for leaders to be effective in increasing morale in the workplace. Employee morale and productivity were the focus of the literature review. In Section 2, I cover the qualitative methodology used in this research and includes population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity. In Section 3, I present the findings of this study, with implications for applications to professional social change in the workplace, and recommendations for future research.

Section 2: The Project

Leaders from organizations lack behavior strategies to increase employee morale to improve productivity (Laureani & Antony, 2017). Additionally, employees' low morale decreases productivity, well-being, and increases absenteeism and costs toward the organization (Noor & Ampornstira, 2019; Street & Lacey, 2018). In this research, I explored strategies to increase morale and improve productivity. In Section 2, I include the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants, research method, research design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization techniques, data analysis, reliability and validity, and transition and summary.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies used by successful organizational leaders to increase employee morale to improve productivity in their organizations. The target population consisted of five managers, at a company in Knoxville, Tennessee, who successfully used strategies to increase employee morale resulting in increased productivity and profitability. The research findings could help increase employees' morale at other companies, which could reduce the turnover rate. The implications for positive social change include the potential to reduce crime in the community by enabling employees to maintain their salaries by reducing employee turnover rates. According to Braun (2019), having a good income can deter people from committing crimes.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher conducting this study was to ensure that the study complies with the ethical principles and guidelines in the *Belmont Report* and the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB). The Belmont Report principles and guidelines consist of three primary areas of ethical conduct: (a) beneficence (i.e., balance between the risks taken by the participant while reducing harm and maximizing the benefits from the research), (b) respect (i.e., researcher have respect for the participant and participant have to remain autonomous), and (c) justice (i.e., parts of society bared the cost while others received the benefit for being the research subject; Loue & Loff, 2019; Salganik, 2018). Researchers have to behave ethically toward the participants and follow ethical procedures throughout the study (Mpofu, 2017; Yin, 2018). I provided an informed consent form to the qualified participant via email to reply by email before taking part in the study. An informed consent form is an ethical principle to inform the participant of methods, anticipated benefits, potential risk, and any other relevant characteristic of the study (Kelly & Halabi, 2018). I informed participants of their right to refuse to participate at any time during the study without retaliation (Kelly & Halabi, 2018).

The role of the researcher in a qualitative case study is to gather the thoughts and feelings of the participants from within the workplace and to understand why such behaviors would take place (Ospina et al., 2017). As the primary researcher in this study, I was familiar with the topic because of my 20 years of experience in various leadership roles within a substantial business. As a researcher, by acknowledging my personal views, I mitigated bias so I could develop an understanding of the organization and the participants. Researchers use the qualitative study method to explore the beliefs, values, and motives behind the behavior (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). The role of the researcher in a case study is to explore the phenomenon encountered by employees in the workplace (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018).

As the researcher in this qualitative single case study, I explored strategies leaders used to increase employees' morale within the workplace. I collected data by conducting semistructured interviews with research participants. The interview questions were openended. I explained to the participants that their identities would remain confidential and that they may answer or refuse to answer any questions at any time during the process. From the data I collected from the participants, I generated themes.

Researchers should report the findings irrespective of their personal knowledge, experience, or expectations. Researchers use strategies such as reflexivity, examining negative cases, bracketing, memoing, keeping field notes, and spending more time with the participants or in the field to lessen the bias in a qualitative study (Kleinknecht et al., 2018; Swaminathan & Mulvihill, 2018). To minimize bias, I did not contact the participants before the start of the study, and I used an interview protocol (see Appendix) to enable participants to receive equal treatment during interviewing. According to Gearing (2004), bracketing is a technique that facilitates the identification of core elements during interviewing. Bracketing is fundamental in qualitative research to avoid the damaging effects of a predetermined idea or opinion of the study (O'Halloran et al., 2016). As an instrument in this research and for bracketing purpose, I set aside my attitude, prior knowledge, and assumptions to remain engaged in the present phenomena to understand the participants' experience.

To lessen bias, I performed member checking, which is an external audit to validate the findings from data that are obtained by the participants' responses. According to Winkel et al. (2018), member checking is crucial in supporting the credibility of the analysis in research. In recording and analyzing the data, I looked for meaning and determine which pieces of data brings value. I focused on analyzing the data to answer how to increase workplace morale to improve productivity in organizations. I identified patterns, themes, connections, and relationships from the data using NVivo software. I established reliability, validity, and efficiency in my research by using member checking from participants' responses. Researchers use journaling, peer review, triangulation, member checks, trustworthiness, and addressing potential ethical issues in establishing reliability, validity, and efficiency (Ary et al., 2019).

I directly engaged leaders who had increased employee morale through strategies in the last 5 years. I aligned my study with peer-reviewed articles to give the reader an understanding of my role in conducting the research. I built a participant and researcher relationships by asking probing questions to answer the research questions. Odonoghue et al. (2017) stated that the closeness among leaders and the researcher is a unique feature of qualitative data.

Participants

For this study, I interviewed five managers of a company located in Knoxville, Tennessee, who successfully used strategies to increase employee morale, resulting in increased productivity and profitability. The inclusion criteria were that participants must (a) be managers who successfully used strategies to increase employee morale resultingin increased productivity and profitability, (b) have a successful career in managing anorganization of more than 10 employees, (c) be able to answer the research questions, and(d) have been with the company for more than 5 years. I received approval from the IRBat Walden University, I then contacted the company by phone and email.

Before starting the research, I obtained permission from a company to interview managers. I used Google and LinkedIn to find the phone numbers and emails for the company to start the recruitment for my research through professional networking by contacting professional leaders through these two websites. Once I established communication with the company, I sent a letter of cooperation by email to the organization to obtain permission to conduct my study. I received names and email addresses from the human resources director, and according to human resources director the participants are leaders who successfully used strategies to increase morale resulting in increased productivity and profitability, who have a successful career in managing an organization of more than 10 employees, and they have been with the company for more than 5 years. According to McRobert et al. (2018), the use of social media is an effective recruitment strategy for researchers.

I approached my participants by email and used the consent form to obtain the individuals' permission to participate in the research study voluntarily. According to Dorsten and Hotchkiss (2019), participants should sign a consent form before the start of the interview. An informed consent letter affirms that the participant agrees to participate with the understanding of benefits, risk, and any other relevant characteristic of the study

(Kelly & Halabi, 2018). I followed the Walden University IRB guidelines as well as the *Belmont Report* protocols to ensure ethical research practices.

To have a successful research interview, researchers should build a working relationship with the participants in their working environment (Sivell et al., 2015; Yin, 2018). As the first step, I identified and engaged with workplace leaders who met the inclusion criteria of this study. I established a working relationship with the participants by introducing myself as the researcher of this study and communicating with them in a professional way by Skype or Zoom, and email.

Research Method and Design

In conducting research, there are three methods (a) quantitative, (b) qualitative, and (c) mixed methods (Yin, 2018). I used a qualitative research methodology rather than a quantitative or mixed method to answer the research question. According to Bell et al. (2019), in a quantitative or mixed study, researchers use mathematical equations. However, my study was not about applying measurements to social life. A qualitative case study methodology is a valuable method for scientific research (Gupta et al., 2019; Yin, 2018). Researchers use the case study to conduct an in-depth investigation to understand a phenomenon to answer how, what, or why rather than how many or how much that would be answered using quantitative methods (Gupta et al., 2019; Yin, 2018).

Research Method

In this case study, I used a qualitative rather than quantitative or mixed method to investigate successful strategies to increase employees' morale from managers located in Knoxville, Tennessee, who have already been successful in increasing morale. I engaged in the qualitative method to explore and provide an in-depth understanding of how managers use strategies to increase morale. Researchers use the qualitative method to provide in-depth semistructured interviews from participants with real-world experiences (Yin, 2018) that have increased morale in the workplace.

Researchers use a quantitative research method to build a knowledge-based correlation of variables to give numerical expressions of the correlation (Maxwell, 2019). Using the quantitative method, the researcher analyzes the data to accept or reject the null hypothesis based on independent and dependent variables (Myers et al., 2017; Nardi, 2018). The purpose of this study was not to provide numeric expression to the correlation of variables nor to test the hypotheses on the strategies used to increase employee morale. A quantitative method would not support the basis for this study.

According to Levitt et al. (2018), a researcher who uses the mixed method approach integrate and analyze both quantitative and qualitative data collection in a single study. Combining quantitative and qualitative methods leads to additional insights that are not gathered from the findings from quantitative and qualitative methods alone (Levitt et al., 2018). The mixed method was not appropriate because the focus was to explore data from real-world scenarios, and not quantify numerical data. Therefore, the basis of the study was to gain awareness of strategies to increase employees' morale in the workplace, and this did not align with using both quantitative and qualitative standards.

Researchers use a qualitative study method to form the groundwork for initiating the planning of the research and helps to find the best method to explain the result (Bengtsson, 2016). I had in-person interviews with organization leaders, the interview questions were open-ended, and I allowed participants to respond promptly to the questions asked to gain a high degree of perspicacity. I gathered anecdotal data rather than numerical data from interviews for the qualitative findings. The framework of a qualitative study is a systematic and flexible approach to understand the attitudes and behaviors in the workplace from participants (Nilsen et al., 2018; Vogl et al., 2017). Moses et al. (2019) suggested that lived experiences, behaviors, and attitudes of participants are the best fit for a qualitative research method to gain insight into participants' perceptions.

Research Design

According to Blaikie and Priest (2018) and Yin (2018), researchers can pick from a few designs, including case study, phenomenology, and ethnography to analyze their research subject of choice. A case study design is a common research tool used for the group, organizational, social, psychology, business, and education purposes (Yin, 2018). Researchers use case study design for in-depth evaluation for exploring a real-world approach to understand the phenomena (Raeburn et al., 2015; Wirth et al., 2018; Yin, 2018). The design for my research was a case study to explore a phenomenon, and my intent was to explore successful strategies organizational leaders use to increase employee morale to improve productivity and profitability in a real-world setting. According to Dieleman and Widjaja (2018), researchers use a single-case study design to enable the researcher to focus on one case in depth and provides for greater contextualization. Researchers can use case studies as a tool to answer interview questions with "how," "what," or "why" (Kopackova, 2019; Lee et al., 2018; Yin, 2018), which was in line with the interview questions used in my research. My goal as a researcher was to interview participants and answer the research question in a real-world context.

The ethnographic design is for researchers to understand beliefs, values, and attitudes that shape a particular culture of behavior in human society over an extended period and share the findings with other groups (Parker-Jenkins, 2018; Yin, 2018). A researcher using ethnographic design becomes part of the real-life culture to understand the beliefs, values, and attitudes he or she studies (Leslie & Paradis, 2018; Yin, 2018). Ethnographic research was not appropriate for this study as the intent of this study was not to be part of the real-life culture nor study groups of people over an extended period.

Researchers who use the phenomenological design seek a deeper understanding of individual lived experiences that produce descriptions of a phenomenon in depth (Chen et al., 2018; Handwerker, 2018; Hearn et al., 2018; Vagle, 2018; Willig & Wirth, 2018). A phenomenological design was not acceptable for this study as the purpose of this study was to explore strategies to increase morale in its normal environment and not studying people's lived experiences. According to Collins and Thomas (2018), researchers use phenomenological design to collect data from a social study, which would be more detailed than the scope of this DBA study.

Researchers achieve saturation when no new themes or information emerge during the data analysis to influence the findings (Lowe et al., 2018; Weatherall et al., 2018). I collected data until no additional facts affected the findings; at that point, I reached data saturation. I achieved my sample size based on amount of data required to warrant the trustworthiness of the findings and the point at which no additional facts affected the findings. In qualitative research, sample size and data saturation are crucial for credibility and validity (Chironda & Bhengu, 2018; Pratt & Yezierski, 2018). Data saturation occurs when researchers have gathered enough data when interviewing to the point at which no new additional information affect the findings, and when coding is no longer practical (Kabir et al., 2018).

Population and Sampling

The participants for this study consisted of five professional managers of a company in Knoxville who successfully used strategies to increase employee morale resulting in increased productivity and profitability. I explored different views of participating managers in the successful use of strategies to increase morale. The interview setting was comfortable for the participants because the participants were able to choose a time and location for the interview. The participants could choose between an in-person interview or an online interview with Zoom or Skype. According to Sivell et al. (2015), participants feeling comfortable facilitates a more open and in-depth response during the interview.

I applied purposive sampling to the select five managers who successfully used strategies to increase morale in the workplace. Purposive sampling was the most relevant for this study in identifying participants with distinct knowledge and experiences of the research subject. For the selection of participants, the purposive sample would be the most effective for answering a specific topic (Baillie et al., 2017; Valerio et al., 2016; White et al., 2017). In a qualitative study, the purposive sample method is routinely used, and the researcher can select the place that would allow for in-depth information on answering the research question (Ilgun & Ugurluoglu, 2018). The purpose of this study was not to measure variables, so a smaller sample size would be efficient. The choice of sample size was based on the best opportunity for the researcher to reach saturation. I reached data saturation after interviewing five participants and no new themes become apparent, and this determined my sample size was satisfactory. I used prolonged engagement, in-depth interviews, member checking, field notes, and triangulation of the data to ensure information redundancy. Qualitative research has no rules regarding the sample size unless the researcher is looking into more extreme cases for more insightful answers that would require a more significant population (Gupta et al., 2019). If saturation did not occur with the five participants' I would have selected new participants and interview until saturation occurs.

In qualitative research, a nonprobability selection is useful for nonrandom selection, whereas probability sampling is well defined from simple to complex sampling techniques (Link, 2018). In qualitative research, the most crucial part of sampling is that it needs to align with the research question, methods, and research design (Sykes et al., 2017). The purposive sampling method is most common because the researcher can influence sample configuration, and it is inexpensive and faster to obtain (Bourne et al., 2018; Sarstedt et al., 2017).

For the purpose of this study, it was best to keep the population small due to time and money restraints with a more significant population. The focus of my research was to understand and explore the strategies managers use to increase employee morale to improve productivity and profitability. I interviewed five managers who had knowledge and experience of increasing morale in the workplace. I aimed to understand and explore strategies managers use successfully to increase employee morale resulting in increased productivity and profitability.

Ethical Research

After receiving the approval from the Walden University IRB, I commenced data collection. I interviewed professional managers from a manufacturing corporation in east Tennessee. The consent form together with an invitation email were sent via email to qualified participants to reply by email before taking part in the study. The consent form includes details about the study, processes that the researcher used to protect participant's confidentiality, details about the voluntary nature of the study, and the ways individuals can withdraw from the study at any time without ramification. Participants may withdraw at any time before or during an interview by written or verbal communication without any clarification (Efunshile et al., 2018). Participants have the opportunity not to respond or to withdraw from this study by written notice, email, verbally at any time with or without a stated reason. There were no rewards or incentives for participating in the research study strictly voluntary. Business organization may benefit from this study through newly developed strategies to increase morale of employees.

I identified topics and interpreted the data responsibly. By using Walden University guidelines, I used proper research techniques, correct information, and accurate reporting. Instead of using participants' names in the study, I coded the participants as P1, P2, P3, etc. to keep confidentiality. I stored my research in a secure safe according to the Walden University guidelines, and after 5 years from the date of being published, I will permanently destroy the data by shredding the documents and deleting files. I obtained approval from Walden University IRB (approval no. 05-13-20-0610592) before gathering any data. The researcher must maintain ethical research by respecting participants' privacy, confidentiality, protecting identity, and ensuring the protection of participants from harm (U.S. Department of Health et al., 1979).

Data Collection Instruments

My role in this qualitative study, as the primary data collection instrument, was to interview in-depth and record experiences, behaviors, actions of participants, and analyze data from semistructured interviews and information from relevant company documents. For allowing sufficient flexibility to exploring new and emerging concepts, researchers use a semistructured interview format (Retzer et al., 2019). I asked six open-ended questions during the interview to attain knowledge and understanding of strategies used successfully to increase employee morale resulting in increased productivity and profitability. Yin (2018) stated that the most valuable tools in research are interviews to obtain data collection. According to Galipeau et al. (2019), participants should be willing and able to participate in a research study to collect data. I used the interview protocol (see Appendix) to serve as a guide to interview participants. Galipeau et al. stated that researchers would follow a semistructured interview guide with open-ended questions to cover the topics related to answering the research question. In qualitative research, researchers use interviews, observations, archival records, physical artifacts, and participant-observation to gain data for analysis (Yin, 2018).

According to Glegg (2018), researchers should review the interview material beforehand in preparation for interviewing the participants to enhance and refine the research instrument. During the interview, I used appropriate note-taking techniques and watched the participant's body language to capture the responses. Dawson (2019) stated that researchers should listen, paraphrase, and probe for more information. To ensure the accuracy of the collection instrument, interviews were audio-recorded, transcribed, and validated after each interview. I confirmed the credibility and dependability of the data through member checking. To achieve member checking, I transcribed the data and sent back a summary of the responses to the participants to review accuracy. Baik and Zierler (2018) stated that member checking establishes credibility and dependability. The credibility and dependability of a study are established through participants confirming the accuracy of the interpretations and addressing inaccuracies in the data (Harrison et al., 2019).

Data Collection Technique

The primary data collection technique for this study was in-person semistructured interviews with participants. The semistructured interviews were composed of openended questions and align by the interview protocol (see Appendix), audio-recorded, and transcribed. When necessary, I asked probing questions and paraphrase as needed to gain more in-depth data or for clarification about the significant themes, to ensure the accuracy of my understanding of the participant response. During the interview, I captured the observations by taking notes and recording to document emotions, feelings, and behaviors. Researchers use semistructured interviews to give the participants full freedom to convey themselves to the researcher (Potts et al., 2018). In qualitative data collection, the researcher commences the discussion about the research and purposely tries to motivate and probe participants to expand and articulate answers (Yin, 2018). The researcher gain insight into the participant experiences, knowledge, and opinions with indepth semistructured interviews (Hagler et al., 2018).

According to Growe (2018), face-to-face interviews build trust as an exchange for knowledge. Face-to-face interviews enable researchers to capture participants' detailed emotions, feelings, and behaviors (Brace, 2018). According to Brace (2018), face-to-face interaction between the interviewer and respondent can influence the accuracy of the data. The disadvantage is that semistructured interviews are time-consuming, expensive, the depth of information could be hard to analyze, not very reliable, lack of validity, and limited generalizability (Alotaibi & Potoglou, 2018). I followed up each interview by transcribing and validating the responses through member checking. I provided the participants with a one to two pages summary of the interview for them to approve the validity and accuracy of the content. Member checking refers to providing opportunities to check the accuracy of, expand, and comment on data collection with the participants (Brear, 2018; Chaleshgar-Kordasiabi et al., 2018; Iivari, 2018; Madill & Sullivan, 2018; Smith & Mcgannon, 2017). Member checking is a means used to increase the validity or credibility of qualitative research and controlling the bias by means of checking the trustworthiness of interpretations (Smith & Mcgannon, 2017). Each participant received a thank you letter for participating once the research was completed.

I asked each participant for company documents as a secondary data source to support strategies to increase employees' morale such as emails and yearly performance evaluations. The advantages of reviewing company documents are to support data validation, accuracy, and improve data saturation (Mohajan, 2018; Yin, 2018). The disadvantages of using document review is that the information could be sensitive and not be for public viewing or incomplete, disorganized, inapplicable and time-consuming to collect, review, and analyze (Akhu-Zaheya et al., 2017; Li et al., 2019; Lin et al., 2018). According to Yin (2018), documents are applicable to every case study. The advantage of researchers collecting multiple sources of data is to promote social change, mitigate bias, and enhance reaching data saturation through triangulation (Fusch et al., 2018).

Data Organization Technique

Researchers use multiple collection techniques to organize data, but the most common method is computer software (Pokorny et al., 2018). According to Yin (2018), after collecting data, researchers organize and interpret data into common themes. I transcribed the data after audio recording and saved the information on my Hewlett Packard Pavilion laptop with a backup on an external hard drive. I used a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet to capture detail records of each interview, such as individuals interviewed, data, company, and interview notes. According to Bantjes et al. (2019), assigning pseudonyms to the participants protected their identity and ensured confidentiality; and storing data in a safe place safeguarded their privacy. To protect participants' confidentiality and identity, I coded participants such as P1, P2, and P3. These documents are in a password-protected file and stored in a safe location that I only had access to. In 5 years from CAO approval, I will shred the documents and delete computer files of the study.

Data Analysis

Researchers use the triangulation method to increase validity in qualitative research by combining the diversity of data, investigators, theories, and methodologies (Kern, 2016). Methodological triangulation was my method of choice for cross-checking data from multiple sources and developing a comprehensive understanding of the phenomena. According to Natow (2019), methodological triangulation is a common research strategy for combining interviews with documents to capture different dimensions of the topic and to increase the validity and credibility of the findings. To reinforce the findings and reduce the uncertainty of interpretation, researchers gather data from two or more independent measurement methods (Brodie et al., 2018; Lind et al., 2018; Ries, 2019). In qualitative research, data analysis is an essential component of the study (Hu et al., 2019). Data analysis begins with finding themes that answer the research question from gathering documents, compiling notes, transcribing interviews (Yin, 2018).

To find themes, patterns, and categories I used Yin's (2018) five-step data analysis method for a case study: (a) compile, (b) disassemble, (c) reassemble, (d) interpret, and (e) conclude. The first phase of data analysis is to organize from compiling data (Healy et al., 2017). During this phase, the researcher ensured accuracy by reviewing the recordings with the transcripts (Chiwaridzo et al., 2019). I listened and relistened to the audio recordings and transcribe the interviews. I transcribed and analyzed participant recordings for reoccurring themes. To strengthen my interpretation, I read the transcript line-by-line and become familiar with the data. After the organization of the data, I used the NVivo software tool to import the interview textual transcript data. I gave each participant a code such as P1, P2, and P3 to keep confidentiality.

In the next phase, I disassembled data into identifiable segments from information gathered to find themes and patterns (see Chiwaridzo et al., 2019). With the use of NVivo software to organize data, codes emerged. Code is a short name for categorizing segments of data (Maher et al., 2018). According to Phillips and Lu (2018), NVivo software adds significant value when coding and analyzing data based on the noted themes and patterns. According to Castleberry and Nolen (2018), a thematic analysis is a method to identify, analyze, and report themes and patterns within data by reducing the data into manageable themes. In qualitative research, researchers use NVivo software to conduct a thematic analysis (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018).

In the next phase, I reassembled the data based on clusters and codes and explore possible new themes and patterns that could replace each code. The fourth phase of data analysis, I performed a comprehensive interpretation of the data results based on themes and patterns formation. The final part of data analysis is the discussion of the findings concluding the study (Healy et al., 2017).

According to Robertson et al. (2017), the conceptual framework is a tool to assign meaning presented in the research findings. I presented the findings and conclusions based on the transformational leadership theory, which was the conceptual framework for this research. By focusing on the themes, I answered the research question. To draw a conclusion and recommendations, I compared prior literature findings with my research findings.

Reliability and Validity

In qualitative research, researchers address reliability and validity through credibility, confirmability, dependability, and transferability (Grover et al., 2017). To prove the quality of social research inquiry, researchers use reliability and validity as two critical criteria (Doi et al., 2018). Techniques such as triangulation and member checking can address the reliability and validity of documents and personal accounts of a phenomenon (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). Member checking is the process of sending back a summary of the responses to the participants to review for accuracy (Smith & Mcgannon, 2017). Data triangulation is the process of gathering data from multiple sources to provide multiple perspectives of the phenomenon under study (Renz et al., 2018). For my qualitative case study, I used member checking to check participants' responses and triangulation for gathering data to ensure the reliability and validity of this research.

Reliability

Reliability refers to research free from error (Sliwinski et al., 2016). In qualitative research, dependability refers to data stability and is often compared to the concept of reliability (Forero et al., 2018). In research, having a reliable source also means having a trustworthy or dependable source, dependability is a substitute for reliability (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). By conducting member checking, researchers can enhance the level of

reliability in a qualitative study (Halldorsdottir et al., 2017). I addressed the dependability of my data through member checking with participants. Member checking is a process that involves participants checking the researcher's interpretation and providing input on the accuracy of the data that reflect their experiences, which help reduce biases (Griggs et al., 2019; Smith & Mcgannon, 2017). To ensure dependability, researchers provide detailed descriptions of the research context by using well-established research methods such as triangulation and member checking (Adams et al., 2019). After the interview, I had each participant review a short report of the interpretations and address the accuracy or inaccuracy that ensured the dependability of my results, also referred to as member checking. Researchers use member checking as a tool to increase validity from the preliminary data (Isendahl & Stump, 2019).

Validity

According to Yin (2018) in qualitative research, validity is crucial. According to Fitzpatrick (2019), researchers cannot trust the research conclusion without validity. According to Yin (2018), honesty from the researcher ensures the accuracy of the data. The key for research is collecting sufficient data to represent the phenomenon accurately with a full range of observations (Fitzpatrick, 2019). For the interview, I transcribed after using a Samsung audio recorder and digital recorder to strengthen validity. According to Fitzpatrick, having both audio recording and transcription of an interview increased validity because recordings capture the tone of voice and pauses in statements, at which the transcript may not capture. Validity refers to findings that reflect the true meaning of the phenomenon under study (Cassol et al., 2018).

I choose methodological triangulation and member checking methods to ensure credibility in this qualitative study. I transcribed and validated data with a short report of the interpretations after each interview so the participant can verify the accuracy of the transcript, which in research terms is member checking. In qualitative research, credibility is equivalent to validity (Korstjens & Moser, 2017). Triangulation and member checking are methods researchers use to ensure the credibility of research data and to reduce bias (Abdalla et al., 2018; Fitzpatrick, 2019; Moon, 2019). To improve the quality of qualitative data, researchers use the member checking method (Moon, 2019). According to Fitzpatrick, member checking is seeking respondent validation of data that confirms the quality of data.

According to Korstjens and Moser (2017), transferability is the degree to which the findings can be transferable to other respondents' contexts or settings. The researcher provides in-depth experiences and behaviors of the participants and the overall research described in detail to be transferability to an outsider (Korstjens & Moser, 2017). I ensured transferability by giving a thick description of the phenomenon under study, detailed information on the research setting, and the overall research process.

Confirmability pertains to the trustworthiness and accuracy of the overall research process from data collection to the development and reporting of the findings with all records kept throughout the study as an audit trail (Kettunen & Tynjala, 2017; Korstjens & Moser, 2017). An audit trail ensures dependability and confirmability in the study (Korstjens & Moser, 2017). In addition, to achieve confirmability, researchers validate the correctness of information from participants' responses by member checking, which ensures the study is trustworthy (Hayre & Muller, 2019). In this study, I achieved confirmability by asking open-ended questions during the semistructured interview to obtain data from the participants. After the interview, the participant verified the accuracy of data taken, and all data that I obtained were on file as an audit trail to confirm accuracy of the research. According to Scharp and Sanders (2018), researchers improve confirmability by illustrating their notes in a way to link their data to the findings and this is achieved through an audit trail. I described in detail all the processes in this study to allow a professional to make informed decisions on the conclusion of the study. In qualitative research, member checking remains a critical tool to check the credibility of the data of researcher participants (Hayre & Muller, 2019; Smith & McGannon, 2017). Credibility involves ensuring that the findings of a study represent the original data correctly (Penny et al., 2018).

To obtain data saturation, I interviewed until no new themes emerged. Data saturation occurs when no new information emerges during the iterative coding process (Walzl et al., 2019). According to Hennink et al. (2019), in a qualitative study, having a sufficient sample size is determined by the number of interviews the researcher conducts to achieve data saturation.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative case studying was to explore strategies used by successful organizational leaders to increase employee morale to improve productivity in their organizations. The population of the research consisted of five managers who successfully used strategies to increase employee morale. In Section 2, I outlined the

plans for data collection and analysis. Section 2 includes the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, the design and method, the participants of this research, the population and sampling technique, the data collection instruments, the ethical research, data organization technique, data collection technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity. I supported confidentiality and ethics in my study for the decisions I made.

In Section 3, I outline the guide to this research, which includes the purpose statement and the research question. In addition, I discuss findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, the recommendations for action, the recommendation for future research, reflection, and conclusion based on the experience of the doctoral research. For future research, I discuss gaps in the existing literature and provide a recommendation based on the research findings. I discuss how the study reinforces the conceptual framework. Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies used by successful organizational leaders to increase employee morale to improve productivity in their organizations. The findings of this research indicated that effective communication, employee engagement, and rewards are strategies to increase morale in the workplace. Participants in this study agreed that implementing these strategies would increase morale in an organization leading to an increased productivity and profitability.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question for this study was: What strategies do organizational leaders use to increase employee morale to improve productivity and profitability? The three main themes that emerged from the data collection analysis regarding strategies to increase employee morale to improve productivity in organizations were (a) effective communication, (b) employee engagement, and (c) employee rewards.

Theme 1: Effective Communication

The first theme that emerged from the data analysis is to have effective communication in the organization. According to Do and Nuth (2019), leaders benefit from high-quality communication with personnel on all organizational ladder steps. Communication was a recurring theme in response to the interview questions. Each participant noted that effective communication was crucial to their success in implementing strategies for increasing morale in their organization. The five participants agreed that successful leaders use effective communication to achieve organizational goals. According to John et al. (2019), human performance relies on team communication to succeed. I obtained support documents from participants such as emails and yearly performance evaluations to augment the evidence collected.

According to the participants, performance evaluation is a tool used to communicate to employees. I read emails and performance evaluations documents that I received from P2 and P3 that encouraged communication and teamwork. The emails I read gave recognition for a job well done and goals to complete. The performance evaluation I reviewed showed positive notes, such as yearly achievements and an understanding of the individual's expected performance that confirm effective communication. In the interview, P3 stated, "During the performance evaluations, I ask each individual what I can do to help them be more productive." Each participant agreed that using emails to convey messages immediately to their employees is the most efficient means of business communication. The emails I read gave brief instructions for employees' daily goals and employees' responses that support effective communication. Table 1 includes the subthemes of effective communication for strategies to increase morale by the participants. Participants indicated the importance of using email and performance evaluations to increase employee morale, thereby increasing productivity and profitability.

Table 1

Subthemes	No. of participants	Frequency
Email	5	15
Performance evaluation	5	10
Communicating face to face	2	5
Communication as a tool	2	8
Clear communication	5	9
Concise communication	5	6
Tone of communication	5	11
Way leaders communicate	5	6

Subthemes of Effective Communication

According to Do and Nuth (2019), leaders benefit from high-quality communication with personnel on all organizational ladder steps. Participants agreed that open communication is a strategy for increasing employee morale in an organization. P1 and P2 decided the most effective way of communicating is face-to-face. Effective communication is a transformational leadership strategy that engages personnel to transfer knowledge between the leaders and subordinates. P4 stated that leaders should be on the work floor, communicating with their employees. P3 and P4 agreed that to achieve organizational success, leaders should collaborate with employees.

P2 emphasized that successful leaders use communication as a tool to increase employee engagement to increase productivity. P5 also stated that leaders should communicate regularly, be clear and concise, and set the tone for organizational achievement. P1 and P5 agreed that leaders' tone of voice and body expressions could increase or decrease employee morale in an organization; therefore, leaders are instrumental to organizational success. The way leaders communicate can be for the better or for the worse in an organization (Irving, 2019). P4 shared that having a leader who communicates poorly affects employee morale leading to less productivity. The first theme aligned with the conceptual framework of transformational leadership theory (see Burns, 1978). Leaders can use transformational leadership theory to understand strategies to increase morale by communicating with employees in the organization (Cohrs et al., 2019).

Theme 2: Employee Engagement

The second theme to emerge from the data collection analysis was employee engagement. Participants expressed the importance of employee engagement. Table 2 represents subthemes of the theme employee engagement. Only two participants used the term of empowering employees throughout the interview. They indicated that strategies were beneficial to increasing morale, thereby increasing productivity.

Table 2

Subthemes of Employee Engagement

Subthemes	No. of participants	Frequency
Leading by example	5	13
Empower employees	5	11
Meeting with employees	5	10
Employee opinions	5	9
Employee team	5	18

The theme of employee engagement aligns with an inspiring vision, fostering morale, and encouraging teamwork is part of the conceptual framework of transformational leadership (see Burns, 1978). According to Erkutlu and Chafra (2019), employee engagement in decision-making positively influences organizational performance. A review of organization performance evaluations and emails confirmed that leaders were engaging with their subordinates. The use of email gave the employee an opportunity to communicate freely to the leaders. P1 stated that giving recognition, even through email, inspires motivation.

An essential part of an organization's strategy is achieving a sustainable competitive advantage by having employee engagement (Barreiro & Treglown, 2020). P1 and P2 emphasized that employee engagement creates trust between leader and worker. P2 stated, "I engage my employees when I can when matters pertain to them." According to Davis (2020), engaging employees builds trust between leaders and employees. P2 and P3 agreed that managers lead by example, and if they are not engaged, then the employees will also not be engaged. P2 stated that, "giving organization teams a voice makes them feel valued and increases organization success." P3 and P4 emphasized that managers should empower employees by delegating authority and encouraging decisionmaking. According to Choi (2019), employee empowerment influences performance.

P1 shared that leaders need to ensure that their employees are part of the organizational mission by regularly meeting with employees to review their work ethics toward the mission. P4 stated, "One nonperforming employee would decrease morale." P4 shared that they sit down with the employee and get them motivated to perform. P1 stated, "It is imperative to keep the employees informed and engaged to be able to increase morale." Participants claimed that employee engagement begins and ends with the organization leader, and improving employee engagement would increase morale. According to Amarneh and Muthuveloo (2020), employees' productivity and creativity increase when they are satisfied with their organization.

According to Francis and Keegan (2020), communication from senior and frontline managers is critically important in building work environments that enable employees to engage. P5 defines engagement as a motivational process to which employees express their thoughts to promote work. P4 stated "In having a bond with my employees, I have a close family relationship with each employee." Moments of engagement gives an individual a sense of meaningfulness to engage in work-related tasks (Francis & Keegan, 2020). P3 and P4 expressed that employees' opinions contribute to having the most successful outcomes in an organization, and the employee wants to feel that they are part of a team. The second theme aligned with the conceptual framework of transformational leadership theory (see Burns, 1978). Leaders can use transformational leadership theory to understand strategies to increase morale by engaging employees in the organization (Mahmood et al., 2019).

Theme 3: Employee Reward

The third theme to emerge from the data collection analysis was employee reward. The literature review and conceptual framework of transformational leadership theory support this theme. According to Mahmood et al. (2019), social factors such as rewards and top managers as role models can influence employee behavior. Transformational leaders positively contribute to boosting intrinsic motivation and process engagement (Mahmood et al., 2019). Table 3 represents subthemes of the theme employee rewards. Participants gave recognition or rewards when objectives were met or exceeded.

Table 3

Subthemes	No. of participants	Frequency
Recognize effort	5	14
Give incentives	5	10
Show appreciation	5	12
Encourage employees	5	16

Subthemes of Employee Rewards

The five participants agreed on using rewards as a strategy to increase employee morale, productivity, profitability, and achieve company goals. P3 stated, "If not a good leader, all the rewards in the world do not mean anything." Participants want a productive and happy workforce, and all employees should be recognized for their efforts. The review of emails and performance evaluation confirmed that the leaders gave recognition to their employees when completing a goal and in times of doing a good job. Participants agreed that morale could be increased by rewards and recognition programs. P1 stated, "offering incentives can improve employee performance." P1 and P2 agreed that simple handwritten notes or emails from managers would increase morale within an organization. The email responses that I read showed appreciation toward the leader and the employee. P4 mentioned that employers need to find different ways to show appreciation and recognition to the team or to the best performers. To increase morale, P5 suggested employees feel valued with the end-of-the year party for reaching milestones.

The five participants agreed that rewards are beneficial to increasing morale. Participants agreed that they encourage employees by email, face-to-face meetings, phone calls, and being involved with each employee. According to Shafagatova and Van Looy (2020), rewards are an essential strategy for the organization to facilitate employee motivation. According to Mahmood et al. (2019), rewards positively influence employee behavior and attitude. A review of administrative emails and performance evaluations confirmed rewards positively help in achieving organizational success. The third theme aligned with the conceptual framework of transformational leadership theory (see Burns, 1978). Leaders can use transformational leadership theory to understand strategies to increase morale by rewarding employees in the organization (Kwapisz, 2019).

In conclusion, having strategies to increase morale, such as effective communication, employee engagement, and employee rewards, will increase productivity and profitability in a workplace. Managers can use the conceptual framework of transformational leadership theory to build a strong relationship with their employees to help each other to advance to a higher level of morale (see Burns, 1978). Transformational leaders influence followers to perform above their expectations by increasing morale and motivation and changing the organization as a team (Lange et al., 2018).

Applications to Professional Practice

Business leaders faces many challenges to stay productive and profitable. Strategies to increase morale are essential for improving productivity and profitability in an organization. According to Noor and Ampornstira (2019), organizations are less productive when employees lack morale, and with an increase in morale, employees' productivity, performance, motivation, loyalty, and engagement increase. This study's findings are essential to organization leaders because the findings showed that effective communication, employee engagement, and rewards are strategies to increase morale to improve productivity and promote sustainability and stability. The lack of effective communication, employee engagement, and employee rewards will influence turnover and affect an organization's productivity (Stater & Stater, 2018).

Communication is an essential tool for having a strong relationship with employees, customers, and suppliers to achieve productivity and profitability. Clear lines of communication can be from email, phone calls, social media, one on one, and because of the COVID-19 pandemic, leaders could use Skype or Zoom to communicate with employees, customers, and suppliers. Leaders who demonstrate competence in knowing their product will strengthen communication with customers and suppliers (Crome et al., 2019).

Engaged employees are motivated, intensely involved in their work, enormously enthusiastic, and immersed in doing their job (Hidayah Ibrahim et al., 2019). Business leaders engage employees by collaboration, empowering them, and leading by example (Jha et al., 2019). Employees who interact with organization leaders will have a clear goal and the same vision towards achieving success. Leaders engage employees by letting them know how the organization is doing, giving them tools for success, motivating and inspiring them, and promoting transparency and collaboration in the workplace. The benefits of engaging employees could foster a supported workplace with a team atmosphere.

According to Crome et al. (2019), rewards and recognition increase motivation, engagement, and productivity. Leaders can reward employees by giving them a card, hand-written note, phone call, email, end-of-year party, plaque, raise, or anything that would show appreciation for meeting or exceeding goals. Leaders who show recognition of employees' efforts confirm that their employees' work is valued. According to Henderson (2020), employees are the primary asset in an organization. A happy worker is a productive worker.

Implication for Social Change

The study's findings could contribute to positive social change by providing organization leaders with a framework to increase and maintain employee morale. Leaders may use these study findings to increase employee morale and improve productivity, which would increase employee well-being. Better life outcomes and higher productivity have come from employees' well-being (Maccagnan et al., 2018).

Leaders who implement effective leadership strategies could attract and retain talented employees, improve relationships with coworkers, and gain a positive reputation in the community. A leader who has a supportive work environment creates a sense of security, which gives a feel of living at home for the employee (Kurniawaty et al., 2019). Effective communication between leaders and employees would establish clear expectations that build trust and loyalty (Vega-Zamora et al., 2019). Employees, who learn about the organizations' culture, products, and services, could advocate for their brand and mission. This type of communication would build a positive relationship between the organization and the community to appreciate the goods and services.

Recommendations for Action

The three identified themes were the result of implementing strategies to increase employee morale and thus improve productivity, I recommend that leaders use effective communication, employee engagement, and employee rewards as strategies to improve employee morale within the organization. According to Alozie (2020), productivity and profitability can be improved by an increase in morale. I recommend that organizational leaders seek to bring teamwork, motivation, trust, engagement, growth, and development to their employees.

I recommend leaders encourage open communication through emails, face-to-face meetings, phone calls, and yearly performance reviews. I recommend leaders go out in the work area to communicate regularly, clearly, and positively. According to Crome et al. (2019), effective communication can positively affect employee engagement, motivation, and productivity. I recommend leaders increase employee engagement by employee empowerment and engaging them in decision making when it pertains to them. According to Jha et al. (2019), employee engagement is crucial for individual outcomes, job satisfaction, well-being, and organizational success. I recommend leaders encourage feedback from their employees. I recommend offering a professional opportunity to develop and carve out a career path. According to Davis (2020), engaging employees builds trust.

According to Crome et al. (2019), rewards motivate employees to be more productive. I recommend leaders reward achievements for the performers that meet or exceed expectations. I recommend leaders evaluate establishing a reward and recognition program in the workplace. I recommend using phone calls, face-to-face, and emails with words of encouragement. Human resource scholars posited that rewards play a crucial role in an organization (Koo et al., 2019). Leaders could discover ways to increase morale and minimize the decrease in productivity by understanding the positive outcomes of different reward systems.

I will submit this study or part of it for publication through journal websites such as ProQuest, ResearchGate, Elsevier, and the Journal of Business Research. I will also provide a summary of the study to the five participants who participated in answering the interview questions. I intend to share the findings with my organization leaders through continuous training and conferences.

Recommendations for Further Research

I conducted a qualitative single case study on the strategies used by successful leaders who increase productivity and profitability. The sample consisted of five leaders in Knoxville, Tennessee, who successfully used strategies to increase employee morale resulting in increased productivity and profitability. This study was limited to one organization, five participants, and one location. I recommend using multiple organizations, more participants that can answer the research question honestly, and a different geographical location for future research. I recommend doing workplace observations to gain a more profound in-depth knowledge. I limited myself to doing a single qualitative case study. I recommend future researchers conduct a quantitative or mixed-method analysis to incorporate statistical data on the subject matter. I recommend using quantitative research to assess the existence, strength, and direction of a relationship between (a) effective communication, (b) employee engagement, and (c) employee rewards and employee morale. According to Maxwell (2019), a mixed-method or quantitative analysis could be used as another means to check the research question. I

recommend researchers do a multiple case study rather than a single case study. Instead of limiting research merely on morale, future researchers could gain data through other means of increasing productivity and profitability.

Reflections

The doctoral program was a challenging and arduous journey. At times, I did not think I would complete the journey, but I kept pushing through obstacles, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, to achieve my professional endeavors and grow as an academic. During this journey, I learned how to become a writer, researcher, and scholar. I learned how to use acquired skills such as critical thinking to answer the research question, what strategies organizational leaders use to increase employee morale to improve productivity and profitability. I recruited experienced leaders as participants to add value to my study and answer the research question through purposive sampling.

My doctoral research has expanded my understanding of the importance of strategies to increase morale in the workplace. I was open-minded, remained neutral, remained on topic, and set aside my personal biases about organizational behaviors in exploring the research topic. From conducting interviews, I mitigated my own biases. I had a personal agenda to increase morale in the workplace, and I appreciate each participant in fulfilling this journey. My doctoral research has enabled me to collect data and present findings that organization leaders may find instrumental in increasing morale. I have significantly gained an understanding and appreciation of the doctoral program, and my doctoral research has expanded my knowledge of the importance of strategies to increase morale in the workplace.

Conclusion

Increasing productivity, sustainability, and profitability from using strategies directly relies on leadership understanding of morale and how it can impact employee satisfaction and dissatisfaction. Organization leaders must develop and implement workplace strategies to increase productivity, sustainability, and profitability. To create a positive working environment, organizations need morale (Muhammed & Soumyaja, 2019). Sustaining high morale is crucial for productivity and profitability, and some leaders lack strategies to increase workplace morale. The findings from this study indicated that organization leaders wanting to increase productivity and profitability should implement (a) effective communication, (b) employee engagement, and (c) employee rewards. I concluded that organizational success relies on leaders developing and implementing strategies to increase workplace morale.

References

- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G., Azevedo, C. E., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino E Pesquisa, 19*(1), 66-98.
 https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Abid, G., Contreras, F., Ahmed, S., & Qazi, T. (2019). Contextual factors and organizational commitment: Examining the mediating role of thriving at work. *Sustainability*, *11*(17), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11174686</u>
- Adams, A. M., Chamberlain, D., & Giles, T. M. (2019). The perceived and experienced role of the nurse unit manager in supporting the well-being of intensive care unit nurses: An integrative literature review. *Australian Critical*, *32*(4), 319-329.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aucc.2018.06.003
- Aga, D., Noorderhaven, N., & Vallejo, B. (2016). Transformational leadership and project success: The mediating role of team-building. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34(5), 806-818.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.02.012

- Akhu-Zaheya, L., Al-Maaitah, R., & Hani, S. B. (2017). Quality of nursing documentation: Paper-based health records versus electronic-based health records. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(3-4), e578-e589. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14097
- Ali, Z., Sabir, S., & Mehreen, A. (2019). Predicting engagement and performance

through firm's internal factors. *Journal of Advances in Management Research*, *16*(5), 763-780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JAMR-11-2018-0098</u>

- Allen, G. W., Attoh, P. A., & Gong, T. (2017). Transformational leadership and affective organizational commitment: Mediating roles of perceived social responsibility and organizational identification. *Social Responsibility Journal*, *13*(3), 585-600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-11-2016-0193</u>
- Almeida, J., Costa, C., & Silva, F. N. (2017). A framework for conflict analysis in spatial planning for tourism. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 24(2017), 94-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2017.07.021</u>
- Alos-Simo, L., Verdu-Jover, A. J., & Gomez-Gras, J. (2016). How transformational leadership facilitates e-business adoption. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 117(2), 382-397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-01-2016-0038</u>
- Alotaibi, O., & Potoglou, D. (2018). Introducing public transport and relevant strategies in Riyadh City, Saudi Arabia: A stakeholders' perspective. Urban, Planning and Transport Research, 6(1), 35-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21650020.2018.1463867</u>
- Alozie, O. E. (2020). Diversity v multiculturalism advantages and disadvantages of workplace diversity. *International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications*, 10(1), 135-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.29322/ijsrp.10.01.2020.p9720</u>
- Amarneh, S., & Muthuveloo, R. (2020). Human resource management practices and person-organization fit towards nurses' job satisfaction. *Management Science Letters*, 10(14), 3197-3206. <u>https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.6.019</u>

An, S., Meier, K. J., Bollingtoft, A., & Andersen, L. B. (2018). Employee perceived

effect of leadership training: Comparing public and private organizations.

International Public Management Journal, 22(1), 2-28.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10967494.2018.1497739

- Anthony-Mcmann, P. E., Ellinger, A. D., Astakhova, M., & Halbesleben, J. R. (2016).
 Exploring different operationalizations of employee engagement and their relationships with workplace stress and burnout. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 28(2), 163-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hrdq.21276</u>
- Antonacopoulou, E., & Bento, R. F. (2018). From laurels to learners: Leadership with virtue. *Journal of Management Development*, 37(8), 624-633. https://doi.org/10.1108/jmd-12-2016-0269
- Arcy, J. D., Herath, T., & Asrar, M. K. (2014). Understanding employee responses to stressful information security requirements: A coping perspective. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 31(2), 285-318.

https://doi.org/10.2753/MIS0742-1222310210

- Ary, D., Jacobs, L. C., Sorensen, C. K., & Walker, D. A. (2019). Introduction to research in education. Cengage.
- Asrar-ul-Haq, M., & Kuchinke, K. P. (2016). Impact of leadership styles on employees' attitude towards their leader and performance: Empirical evidence from Pakistani banks. *Future Business Journal*, 2(1), 54-64.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbj.2016.05.002

Babalola, M. T., Bligh, M. C., Ogunfowora, B., Guo, L., & Garba, O. A. (2019). The mind is willing, but the situation constrains: Why and when leader conscientiousness relates to ethical leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 155(1), 75-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3524-4</u>

- Babalola, M. T., Stouten, J., Euwema, M. C., & Ovadje, F. (2018). The relation between ethical leadership and workplace conflicts: The mediating role of employee resolution efficacy. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 44(5), 2037-2063. https://doi.org/10.1177/014 9206316638163
- Baik, D., & Zierler, B. (2018). Clinical nurses' experiences and perceptions after the implementation of an interprofessional team intervention: A qualitative study.
 Journal of Clinical Nursing, 28(3-4), 430-443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14605</u>
- Baillie, J., Gill, P., & Courtenay, M. (2017). Knowledge, understanding and experiences of peritonitis amongst patients, and their families, undertaking peritoneal dialysis:
 A mixed methods study protocol. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(1), 201-210.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13400
- Bantjes, J., Swartz, L., & Botha, J. (2019). Troubling stereotypes: South African elite disability athletes and the paradox of (self-)representation. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 47(4), 819-832. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22155</u>
- Barreiro, C. A., & Treglown, L. (2020). What makes an engaged employee? A facet-level approach to trait emotional intelligence as a predictor of employee engagement. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 159, 109892.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2020.109892

Baskerville, R. L., & Myers, M. D. (2015). Design ethnography in information systems. *Information Systems Journal*, 25(1), 23-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/isj.12055</u> Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. Free Press.

- Basterretxea, I., & Storey, J. (2018). Do employee-owned firms produce more positive employee behavioural outcomes? If not why not? A British-Spanish comparative analysis. *British Journal of Industrial Relations*, 56(2), 292-319.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/bjir.12247
- Bell, E., Bryman, A., Harley, B., & Bryman, A. (2019). *Business research methods*.Oxford University Press.
- Benefield, G. A., Shen, C., & Leavitt, A. (2016). Virtual Team Networks: How group social capital affects team success in a massively multiplayer online game.
 Proceedings of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing CSCW, 16, 679-690.
 https://doi.org/10.1145/2818048.2819935
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *NursingPlus Open, 2*, 8-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001</u>
- Berraies, S., & Abidine, S. Z. (2019). Do leadership styles promote ambidextrous innovation? Case of knowledge-intensive firms. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 23(5), 836-859. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jkm-09-2018-0566</u>
- Blaikie, N. W., & Priest, J. (2018). Designing social research: The logic of anticipation. Polity Press.
- Bourne, J., Andersen-Warren, M., & Hackett, S. (2018). A systematic review to investigate dramatherapy group work with working age adults who have a mental health problem. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, *61*, 1-9.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2018.08.001

Bouwmans, M., Runhaar, P., Wesselink, R., & Mulder, M. (2017). Fostering teachers team learning: An interplay between transformational leadership and participative decision-making? *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 65, 71-80.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.03.010

- Bouzon, M., Miguel, P. A. C., & Rodriguez, C. M. T. (2014). Managing end of life products: A review of the literature on reverse logistics in Brazil. *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal*, 25(5), 564-584.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/MEQ-04-2013-0027
- Brace, I. (2018). *Questionnaire design: How to plan, structure and write survey material for effective market research*. KoganPage.
- Bran, C., & Udrea, C. (2016). The influence of motivation and flexibility on job performance. *Future Academy*, 15, 135-143.

http://doi.org/10.15405/epsbs.2016.09.17

- Braun, C. (2019). Crime and the minimum wage. *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 32, 122-152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.red.2019.02.002</u>
- Brear, M. (2018). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: A project ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(7), 944-957. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318812448</u>
- Brock, S. E., McAliney, P. J., Ma, C. H., & Sen, A. (2017). Toward more practical measurement of teamwork skills. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 29(2), 124-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JWL-07-2016-0069</u>

- Brodie, M., Pliner, E., Ho, A., Li, K., Chen, Z., Gandevia, S., & Lord, S. (2018). Big data vs accurate data in health research: Large-scale physical activity monitoring, smartphones, wearable devices and risk of unconscious bias. *Medical Hypotheses, 119*, 32-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2018.07.015</u>
- Brun, J. P., & Cooper, C. (2009). *Missing pieces: 7 ways to improve employee well being and organizational effectiveness*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Buchanan, N. T., Settles, I. H., Wu, I. H., & Hayashino, D. S. (2018). Sexual harassment, racial harassment, and well-being among Asian American women: An intersectional approach. *Women & Therapy*, 41(3-4), 261-280. https://doi.org/10.1080/0270 3149.2018.1425030
- Burns, J. (1978). Leadership. Harper and Row.
- Bush, S., Seibel, M., Corkins, C., & Elliott-Engel, J. (2019). Evaluating the Virginia agriculture leaders obtaining results (VALOR) program: Blogs as a reflection process. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 60(1), 268-282. https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2019.01268
- Cai, Y., Jia, L., & Li, J. (2016). Dual-level transformational leadership and team information elaboration: The mediating role of relationship conflict and moderating role of middle way thinking. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management*, 34(2), 399-421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-016-9492-x</u>
- Carbonell, P., & Rodriguez-Escudero, A. L. (2016). The individual and joint effects of process control and process-based rewards on new product performance and job satisfaction. *BRQ Business Research Quarterly*, *19*(1), 26-39.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brq.2015.04.001

- Cassol, H., Petre, B., Degrange, S., Martial, C., Charland-Verville, V., Lallier, F., Bragard, I., Guillaume, M., & Laureys, S. (2018). Qualitative thematic analysis of the phenomenology of near-death experiences. *Plos One*, *13*(2), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0193001</u>
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, *10*(6), 807-

815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019

- Chaleshgar-Kordasiabi, M., Enjezab, B., Akhlaghi, M., & Sabzmakan, I. (2018). Barriers and reinforcing factors to self-management behaviour in rheumatoid arthritis patients: A qualitative study. *Musculoskeletal Care*, 16(2), 241-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/msc.1221</u>
- Chang, Y.-Y., Dai, Y.-T., Chien, N.-H., & Chan, H.-Y. (2016). The lived experiences of people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A phenomenological study. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 48(5), 466-471.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12230

- Chatterjee, R., Suy, R., Yen, Y., & Chhay, L. (2017). Literature review on leadership in healthcare management. *Journal of Social Science Studies*, 5(1), 38-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.5296/jsss.v5i1.11460</u>
- Chen, C., Hung, L., Chen, Y., & Yeh, M. C. (2018). Perspectives of patients with noninsulin-treated type 2 diabetes on self-monitoring of blood glucose: A qualitative study. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(7-8), 1673-1683.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14227

Chen, H., & Ayoun, B. (2019). Is negative workplace humor really all that "negative"?Workplace humor and hospitality employees job embeddedness. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 79, 41-49.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.12.010

- Chiang, C., & Liu, B. (2017). Examining job stress and burnout of hotel room attendants: Internal marketing and organizational commitment as moderators. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism, 16*(4), 367-383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2017.1266869</u>
- Chironda, G., & Bhengu, B. R. (2018). Motivators of adherence to integrated management among patients with chronic kidney disease: A qualitative study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 21(1), 63-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12556</u>
- Chiwaridzo, M., Ferguson, G., & Smits-Engelsman, B. C. (2019). High-school adolescents' motivation to rugby participation and selection criteria for inclusion in school rugby teams: Coaches' perspective (the SCRuM project). *BMC Research Notes*, *12*(1), 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-019-4138-y</u>
- Choi, I. (2019). Moving beyond mandates: Organizational learning culture, empowerment, and performance. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 43(8), 724-735. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2019.1645690</u>

Coe, C. A. (2017). Hearing the difference: Mockingbird novel inspires student-led antiracism video project. *Multicultural Perspectives*, 19(4), 239-243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15210960.2017.1373572</u>

- Cohrs, C., Bormann, K. C., Diebig, M., Millhoff, C., Pachocki, K., & Rowold, J. (2019).
 Transformational leadership and communication: Evaluation of a two-day leadership development program. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 41(1), 101-117. https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-02-2019-0097
- Coleman, P. T., Deutsch, M., & Marcus, E. C. (2014). *The handbook of conflict resolution: Theory and practice* (3rd ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Collins, J. L., & Thomas, L. J. (2018). The influence of social determinants of health among young adults after they have left foster care in the US. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(9-10), 2022-2030. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14317</u>
- Creasy, T., & Carnes, A. (2017). The effects of workplace bullying on team learning, innovation and project success as mediated through virtual and traditional team dynamics. *International Journal of Project Management*, 35(6), 964-977. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.04.005</u>
- Crome, E., Meyer, L., Bosanquet, A., & Hughes, L. (2019). Improving engagement in an early career academic setting: Can existing models guide early career academic support strategies? *Higher Education Research & Development*, 38(4), 717-732. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2019.1576597
- Dahlgaard, J., Chen, C., Jang, J., Banegas, L., & Dahlgaard-Park, S. (2013). Business excellence models: Limitations, reflections and further development. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 24(5-6), 519-538.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2012.756745
- Davis, P. J. (2020). Getting employees involved in strategy planning. Journal of Business

Strategy, 41(1), 58-64. https://doi.org/10.1108/jbs-04-2018-0060

- Dawson, C. (2019). Introduction to research methods: A practical guide for anyone undertaking a research project (5th ed.). Robinson.
- Dean, E. (2018). Sexual harassment in the workplace. *Emergency Nurse*, 25(09), 13-13. https://doi.org/10.7748/en.25.09.13.s13
- Dean, P. J. (2016). Tom Gilbert: Engineering performance with or without training. *Performance Improvement*, 55(2), 30-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21556</u>
- Delegach, M., Kark, R., Katz-Navon, T., & Dijk, D. V. (2017). A focus on commitment: The roles of transformational and transactional leadership and self-regulatory focus in fostering organizational and safety commitment. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 26(5), 724-740. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.201 7.1345884</u>
- Derby-Davis, M. J. (2014). Predictors of nursing faculty's job satisfaction and intent to stay in academe. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 30(1), 19-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profnurs.2013.04.001
- Dhiman, S., Modi, S., & Kumar, V. (2019). Celebrating diversity through spirituality in the workplace: Transforming organizations holistically. *Journal of Values-Based Leadership*, 12(1), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.22543/0733.121.1256</u>
- Diebig, M., Bormann, K. C., & Rowold, J. (2016). Day-level transformational leadership and followers' daily level of stress: A moderated mediation model of team cooperation, role conflict, and type of communication. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 26(2), 234-249.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2016.12507 41

- Dieleman, M., & Widjaja, H. (2018). How powerful political ties appropriate resources and how weaker organizations protect themselves: A case study from Indonesia. *Asia Pacific Journal of Management, 36*(1), 61-86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10490-018-9563-2
- Ding, X., Li, Q., Zhang, H., Sheng, Z., & Wang, Z. (2017). Linking transformational leadership and work outcomes in temporary organizations: A social identity approach. *International Journal of Project Management*, 35(4), 543-556. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.02.005</u>
- Do, D. T., & Nuth, A. (2019). Academic library middle managers as leaders: In their own words. *Journal of Library Administration*, 60(1), 41-70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2019.1671036</u>
- Doi, T., Inoue, H., Arai, Y., Shirado, O., Doi, T., Yamazaki, K., Uno, K., & Takeshita, K. (2018). Reliability and validity of a novel quality of life questionnaire for female patients with adolescent idiopathic scoliosis: Scoliosis Japanese Questionnaire-27: A multicenter, cross-sectional study. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *19*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-018-2025-7
- Donaldson-Feilder, E., Lewis, R., & Yarker, J. (2018). What outcomes have mindfulness and meditation interventions for managers and leaders achieved? A systematic review. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 28(1), 11-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2018.1542379</u>

Dong, Y., Bartol, K. M., Zhang, Z., & Li, C. (2016). Enhancing employee creativity via

individual skill development and team knowledge sharing: Influences of dualfocused transformational leadership. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *38*(3), 439-458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2134</u>

- Dorsten, L. E., & Hotchkiss, L. (2019). *Research methods and society: Foundations of social inquiry*. Routledge.
- Drago-Severson, E., & Blum-Destefano, J. (2014). Leadership for transformational learning. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, 9(2), 113-141. https://doi.org/10.1177/1942775114527082
- Duan, W., & Ho, S. M. (2018). Does being mindful of your character strengths enhance psychological well-being? A longitudinal mediation analysis. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 19(4), 1045-1066. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-017-9864-z
- Eberly, M. B., Bluhm, D. J., Guarana, C., Avolio, B. J., & Hannah, S. T. (2017). Staying after the storm: How transformational leadership relates to follower turnover intentions in extreme contexts. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *102*, 72-85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2017.07.004
- Edgeman, R., Eskildsen, J., & Neely, A. (2015). Translating triple top line strategy into triple bottom line performance. *Measuring Business Excellence*, 19(1), <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/mbe-12-2014-0054</u>
- Effelsberg, D., Solga, M., & Gurt, J. (2014). Transformational leadership and follower's unethical behavior for the benefit of the company: A two-study investigation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 120(1), 81-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1644-z</u>

Efunshile, A. M., Ezeanosike, O., Onyekachi, O. N., Ugwu, M. I., Konig, B., &

Robertson, L. J. (2018). Apparent absence of giardia infections among children under 5-years of age with acute watery diarrhea in Abakaliki, Nigeria. *Epidemiology and Infection, 147*(E58), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0950268818003151

- Eisenbeib, S. A., & Boerner, S. (2013). A double-edged sword: Transformational leadership and individual creativity. *British Journal of Management*, 24(1), 54-68. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8551.2011.00786.x
- Eller, L. S., Lev, E. L., & Feurer, A. (2014). Key components of an effective mentoring relationship: A qualitative study. *Nurse Education Today*, 34(5), 815-820. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2013.07.020</u>
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).
 Qualitative content analysis: A Focus on trustworthiness. SAGE Open, 4(1), 1-10.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633
- Engelbrecht, A. S., Heine, G., & Mahembe, B. (2017). Integrity, ethical leadership, trust and work engagement. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *38*(3), 368-379. https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-11-2015-0237
- Erkutlu, H., & Chafra, J. (2017). Leaders' narcissism and organizational cynicism in healthcare organizations. *International Journal of Workplace Health Management, 10*(5), 346-363. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijwhm-12-2016-0090</u>
- Erkutlu, H., & Chafra, J. (2019). Leader psychopathy and organizational deviance. *International Journal of Workplace Health Management*, *12*(4), 197-213.

https://doi.org/10.1108/ijwhm-12-2018-0154

Fan, W., Moen, P., Kelly, E. L., Hammer, L. B., & Berkman, L. F. (2019). Job strain, time strain, and well-being: A longitudinal, person-centered approach in two industries. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *110*, 102-116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.10.017

Fitzpatrick, B. (2019). Validity in qualitative health education research. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 11(2), 211-217.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.11.014

- Fluckiger, B., Aas, M., Nicolaidou, M., Johnson, G., & Lovett, S. (2017). The potential of group coaching for leadership learning. *Professional Development in Education*, 43(4), 612-629. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2016.1223736</u>
- Forero, R., Nahidi, S., Costa, J. D., Mohsin, M., Fitzgerald, G., Gibson, N., McCarthy, s., & Aboagye-Sarfo, P. (2018). Application of four-dimension criteria to assess rigour of qualitative research in emergency medicine. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-2915-2
- Fraher, A. L. (2017). Intergenerational conflict at US airlines: An unresolved oedipal complex? *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 32(1), 75-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jmp-06-2015-0238</u>
- Francis, H., & Keegan, A. (2020). The ethics of engagement in an age of austerity: A paradox perspective. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 162(3), 593-607. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3976-1</u>

Furtner, M. R., Tutzer, L., & Sachse, P. (2018). The mindful self-leader: Investigating the

relationships between self-leadership and mindfulness. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal, 46*(3), 353-360. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.6521

- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 19-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02</u>
- Galipeau, N., Klooster, B., Krohe, M., Tang, D. H., Revicki, D. A., & Cella, D. (2019).
 Understanding key symptoms, side effects, and impacts of HR /HER2- advanced breast cancer: Qualitative study findings. *Journal of Patient-Reported Outcomes*, 3(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41687-019-0098-1
- Gao, Q., Bian, R., Liu, R., He, Y., & Oei, T. (2017). Conflict resolution in Chinese adolescents' friendship: Links with regulatory focus and friendship satisfaction. *The Journal of Psychology*, 151(3), 268-281.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00223980.2016.1270887

- Gaynor, G. H. (2015). Building an innovation team. *IEEE Engineering Management Review*, 43(2), 7-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/emr.2015.2430413</u>
- Gearing, R. E. (2004). Bracketing in research: A typology. *Qualitative Health Research*, *14*(10), 1429-1452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732304270394</u>

Gervais, S. J., & Eagan, S. (2017). Sexual objectification: The common thread connecting myriad forms of sexual violence against women. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 87(3), 226-232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000257</u>

Geue, P. E. (2018). Positive practices in the workplace: Impact on team climate, work

engagement, and task performance. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 54(3), 272-301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886318773459</u>

- Gilbert, M., Dagenais-Desmarais, V., & St-Hilaire, F. (2017). Transformational leadership and autonomy support management behaviors. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal, 38*(2), 320-332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-08-2015-0173</u>
- Gilstrap, C. M., & Bernier, D. (2017). Dealing with the demands: Strategies healthcare communication professionals use to cope with workplace stress. *Qualitative Research Reports in Communication*, 18(1), 73-81.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/17459435.2017.1 330277
- Glaso, L., Skogstad, A., Notelaers, G., & Einarsen, S. (2018). Leadership, affect and outcomes: symmetrical and asymmetrical relationships. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39(1), 51-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-08-2016-0194</u>
- Glegg, S. M. (2018). Facilitating interviews in qualitative research with visual tools: A typology. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(2), 301-310. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318786485
- Gobble, M. M. (2018). The importance of management innovation. *Research-Technology Management*, *61*(6), 54-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08956308.2018.1516932</u>
- Gordon, S., Adler, H., Day, J., & Sydnor, S. (2019). Perceived supervisor support: A study of select-service hotel employees. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management, 38*, 82-90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2018.12.002</u>

- Govindan, K., Rajendran, S., Sarkis, J., & Murugesan, P. (2015). Multi criteria decision making approaches for green supplier evaluation and selection: A literature review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 98, 66-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.06.046
- Griggs, S., Baker, H., & Chiodo, L. M. (2019). Nursing student perceptions of hope in children: A qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing Forum*, 54(3), 441-447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12352</u>
- Grover, R., Emmitt, S., & Copping, A. (2017). The typological learning framework: The application of structured precedent design knowledge in the architectural design studio. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 28(4), 1019-1038. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10798-017-9421-4</u>
- Growe, A. (2018). Developing trust in face-to-face interaction of knowledge-intensive business services (KIBS). *Regional Studies*, *53*(5), 720-730.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00343404.2018.1473567

- Gupta, M., Shaheen, M., & Reddy, K. P. (2019). Qualitative techniques for workplace data analysis. IGI Global.
- Haar, J. M., Russo, M., Sune, A., & Ollier-Malaterre, A. (2014). Outcomes of work–life balance on job satisfaction, life satisfaction and mental health: A study across seven cultures. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *85*(3), 361-373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2014.08.010
- Hagler, M., Hamby, S., Banyard, V., & Grych, J. (2018). "We almost had the whole blocks phone number on the wall": A mixed methods investigation of informal

helping in a predominantly rural sample. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 47(3), 477-494. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22132</u>

- Halcomb, E., & Hickman, L. (2015). Mixed methods research. *Nursing Standard*, 29(32), 41-47. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.29.32.41.e8858</u>
- Halldorsdottir, S., Einarsdottir, E. J., & Edvardsson, I. R. (2017). Effects of cutbacks on motivating factors among nurses in primary health care. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 32(1), 397-406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12474</u>
- Handwerker, S. M. (2018). Challenges experienced by nursing students overcoming one course failure: A Phenomenological Research Study. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, 13(3), 168-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teln.2018.03.007</u>
- Harrison, A. L., Taylor, N. F., Frawley, H. C., & Shields, N. (2019). Women with gestational diabetes mellitus want clear and practical messages from credible sources about physical activity during pregnancy: A qualitative study. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, 65(1), 37-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2018.11.007</u>
- Havold, J. I., & Havold, O. K. (2019). Power, trust and motivation in hospitals. Leadership in Health Services, 32(2), 195-211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/lhs-03-</u> 2018-0023
- Hayre, C. M., & Muller, D. J. (2019). *Enhancing healthcare and rehabilitation: The impact of qualitative research*. CRC Press.
- Healy, S., Humphreys, E., & Kennedy, C. (2017). A qualitative exploration of how midwives' and obstetricians' perception of risk affects care practices for low-risk women and normal birth. *Women and Birth, 30*(5), 367-375.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wombi.2017.02.005

- Hearn, J. H., Selvarajah, S., Kennedy, P., & Taylor, J. (2018). Stigma and selfmanagement: An interpretative phenomenological analysis of the impact of chronic recurrent urinary tract infections after spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord Series and Cases, 4*(1), 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41394-018-0042-2</u>
- Hedberg, P. R. (2017). Guiding moral behavior through a reflective learning practice. Journal of Management Education, 41(4), 514-538.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1052562917695199

- Henderson, M. (2020). The economic case for meeting employees' needs. Journal of Nursing Management, 28(1), 17-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12897</u>
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Weber, M. B. (2019). What influences saturation?
 Estimating sample sizes in focus group research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(10), 1483-1496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318821692</u>
- Hershcovis, M. S., Cameron, A., Gervais, L., & Bozeman, J. (2018). The effects of confrontation and avoidance coping in response to workplace incivility. *Journal* of Occupational Health Psychology, 23(2), 163-174.

https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp000078

Hershcovis, M. S., Ogunfowora, B., Reich, T. C., & Christie, A. M. (2017). Targeted workplace incivility: The roles of belongingness, embarrassment, and power. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 38(7), 1057-1075. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2183

Hewlin, P. F., Dumas, T. L., & Burnett, M. F. (2017). To thine own self be true? Facades

of conformity, values incongruence, and the moderating impact of leader integrity. *Academy of Management Journal*, *60*(1), 178-199. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj. 2013.0404

- Hidayah Ibrahim, S. N., Suan, C. L., & Karatepe, O. M. (2019). The effects of supervisor support and self-efficacy on call center employees' work engagement and quitting intentions. *International Journal of Manpower*, 40(4), 688-703.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/ijm-12-2017-0320
- Hogan, S., & Coote, L. (2014). Organizational culture, innovation, and performance: A test of Schein's model. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(8), 1609-1621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.09.007
- Hogreve, J., Iseke, A., Derfuss, K., & Eller, T. (2017). The service–profit chain: A metaanalytic test of a comprehensive theoretical framework. *Journal of Marketing*, *81*(3), 41-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.15.0395</u>
- Hom, P. W., Lee, T. W., Shaw, J. D., & Hausknecht, J. P. (2017). One hundred years of employee turnover theory and research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102(3), 530-545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000103</u>
- Hood, C., Jennings, W., & Copeland, P. (2015). Blame avoidance in comparative perspective: Reactivity, staged retreat and efficacy. *Public Administration*, 94(2), 542-562. https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12235
- Horvat, A., & Filipovic, J. (2017). Service quality and maturity of health care organizations through the lens of complexity leadership theory. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 24(1), 301-307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.12789</u>

- Horwitz, S. K., & Horwitz, I. B. (2017). The effects of organizational commitment and structural empowerment on patient safety culture. *Journal of Health Organization* and Management, 31(1), 10-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jhom-07-2016-0150</u>
- Hu, Q., Bai, G., Wang, S., & Ai, M. (2019). Extraction and monitoring approach of dynamic urban commercial area using check-in data from Weibo. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 45, 508-521. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2018.11.039</u>
- Hughes, M., Rigtering, J. P., Covin, J. G., Bouncken, R. B., & Kraus, S. (2018).
 Innovative behaviour, trust and perceived workplace performance. *British Journal* of Management, 29(4), 750-768. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12305</u>
- Humphries, N., Morgan, K., Conry, M. C., Mcgowan, Y., Montgomery, A., & Mcgee, H.
 (2014). Quality of care and health professional burnout: narrative literature review. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance*, 27(4), 293-307.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijhcqa-08-2012-0087</u>
- Hur, W., Moon, T., & Jung, Y. S. (2015). Customer response to employee emotional labor: The structural relationship between emotional labor, job satisfaction, and customer satisfaction. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 29(1), 71-80. https://doi.org/:10.1108/jsm-07-2013-0161
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice. Information Technology & People, 31(1), 111-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/itp-07-2016-0168</u>
- Ilgun, G., & Ugurluoglu, O. (2018). How Turkish private hospitals use social media: A Qualitative Study. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 45(1), 34-43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2018.1479339</u>

Inceoglu, I., Thomas, G., Chu, C., Plans, D., & Gerbasi, A. (2018). Leadership behavior and employee well-being: An integrated review and a future research agenda. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 29(1), 179-202.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2017.12.006

- Irving, J. A. (2019). Leadership in Christian perspective: Biblical foundations and contemporary practices for servant leaders. Baker Academic, a division of Baker Publishing Group.
- Isendahl, C., & Stump, D. (2019). *The Oxford handbook of historical ecology and applied archaeology*. Oxford University Press.
- Iwu, E. N., & Holzemer, W. L. (2014). Task shifting of HIV management from doctors to nurses in Africa: Clinical outcomes and evidence on nurse self-efficacy and job satisfaction. *AIDS Care, 26*(1), 42-52.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2013.793278

- Janes, C. (2018). My library in practice. *Journal American Water Works Association*, *110*(5), 64-67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/awwa.1081</u>
- Jasperse, M., Herst, P., & Dungey, G. (2013). Evaluating stress, burnout and job satisfaction in New Zealand radiation oncology departments. *European Journal of Cancer Care*, 23(1), 82-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecc.12098</u>
- Jauhari, H., Singh, S., & Kumar, M. (2017). How does transformational leadership influence proactive customer service behavior of frontline service employees? Examining the mediating roles of psychological empowerment and effective commitment. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 30(1), 30-48.

https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-01-2016-0003

- Javed, B., Rawwas, M. Y., Khandai, S., Shahid, K., & Tayyeb, H. H. (2018). Ethical leadership, trust in leader and creativity: The mediated mechanism and an interacting effect. *Journal of Management & Organization*, 24(3), 388-405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/jmo.2017.56</u>
- Javed, M., Balouch, R., & Hassan, F. (2014). Determinants of job satisfaction and its impact on employee performance and turnover intentions. *International Journal* of Learning & Development, 4(2), 120-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.5296/</u> ijld.v4i2.6094
- Jha, N., Sareen, P., & Potnuru, R. K. G. (2019). Employee engagement for millennials: considering technology as an enabler. *Development and Learning in Organizations: An International Journal*, 33(1), 9-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/dlo-05-2018-0057</u>
- Jimmieson, N. L., Tucker, M. K., & Campbell, J. L. (2017). Task conflict leads to relationship conflict when employees are low in trait self-control: Implications for employee strain. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 113, 209-218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.03.035
- Jin, Y., Austin, L., Eaddy, L., Spector, S., Reber, B., & Espina, C. (2018). How financial crisis history informs ethical corporate communication: Insights from corporate communication leaders. *Public Relations Review*, 44(4), 574-584. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2018.06.003</u>

Johansen, M. S., & Sowa, J. E. (2019). Human resource management, employee

engagement, and nonprofit hospital performance. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 29(4), 549-567. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nml.21352</u>

- John, P., Brooks, B., & Schriever, U. (2019). Speech acts in professional maritime discourse: A pragmatic risk analysis of bridge team communication directives and commissives in full-mission simulation. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 140, 12-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pragma.2018.11.013</u>
- Jones, N. N. (2016). Narrative inquiry in human-centered design. *Journal of Technical Writing and Communication*, *46*(4), 471-491.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0047281616653489

- Joo, B., & Jo, S. J. (2017). The effects of perceived authentic leadership and core selfevaluations on organizational citizenship behavior. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 38(3), 463-481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-11-2015-0254</u>
- Joo, B., & Lee, I. (2017). Workplace happiness: Work engagement, career satisfaction, and subjective well-being. *Evidence-based HRM: A Global Forum for Empirical Scholarship*, 5(2), 206-221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ebhrm-04-2015-0011</u>
- Judge, T. A., Weiss, H. M., Kammeyer-Mueller, J. D., & Hulin, C. L. (2017). Job attitudes, job satisfaction, and job affect: A century of continuity and of change. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*(3), 356-374.

https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000181

Kabir, A., Miah, S., & Islam, A. (2018). Factors influencing eating behavior and dietary intake among resident students in a public university in Bangladesh: A qualitative study. *Plos One*, *13*(6), 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198801</u>

- Kalambo, M., & Parikh, J. R. (2017). Building relations with radiology administrators. *Diagnostics*, 7(2), 1-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics7020033</u>
- Kangas, M., Muotka, J., Huhtala, M., Mäkikangas, A., & Feldt, T. (2017). Is the ethical culture of the organization associated with sickness absence? A multilevel analysis in a public sector organization. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 140(1), 131-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2644-y</u>
- Karam, E. P., Hu, J., Davison, R. B., Juravich, M., Nahrgang, J. D., Humphrey, S. E., & Derue, D. S. (2018). Illuminating the 'face' of justice: A meta-analytic examination of leadership and organizational justice. *Journal of Management Studies*, 56(1), 134-171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/joms.12402</u>
- Kazansky, R., & Andrassy, V. (2019). Conflict resolution approaches towards smart sustainability of internal relations. *Entrepreneurship and Sustainability Issues*, 6(3), 1468-1484. <u>https://doi.org/10.9770/jesi.2019.6.3(29)</u>
- Kelly, W. K., & Halabi, S. (2018). Oncology clinical trials: Successful design, conduct, and analysis. Demos Medical.
- Kern, F. G. (2016). The trials and tribulations of applied triangulation: Weighing different data sources. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 12(2), 166-181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689816651032</u>
- Kersemaekers, W., Rupprecht, S., Wittmann, M., Tamdjidi, C., Falke, P., Donders, R., & Kohls, N. (2018). A workplace mindfulness intervention may be associated with improved psychological well-being and productivity. A preliminary field study in a company setting. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9(1), 1-11.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00195

Kersh, R. (2018). Women in higher education: Exploring stressful workplace factors and coping strategies. *NASPA Journal About Women in Higher Education*, 11(1), 56-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19407882.2017.1372295</u>

Kettunen, J., & Tynjala, P. (2017). Applying phenomenography in guidance and counselling research. *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 46(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03069885.2017.1285006</u>

- Khalili, A. (2017). Transformational leadership and organizational citizenship behavior: The moderating role of emotional intelligence. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 38(7), 1004-1015. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-11-2016-0269</u>
- Khamisa, N., Oldenburg, B., Peltzer, K., & Ilic, D. (2015). Work related Stress, burnout, job Satisfaction and general health of nurses. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *12*(1), 652-666. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120100652
- Kiburz, K. M., Allen, T. D., & French, K. A. (2017). Work-family conflict and mindfulness: Investigating the effectiveness of a brief training intervention. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 38(7), 1016-1037. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.2181
- Kim, S. E. (2014). Physical workplace as a strategic asset for improving performance in public organizations. *Administration & Society*, 46(5), 496-518. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095399713479104

- Kim, S. Y., & Fernandez, S. (2017). Employee empowerment and turnover intention in the U.S. federal bureaucracy. *The American Review of Public Administration*, 47(1), 4-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074015583712</u>
- Kirkwood, A., & Price, L. (2013). Examining some assumptions and limitations of research on the effects of emerging technologies for teaching and learning in higher education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44(4), 536-543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12049</u>
- Kleinknecht, S. W., Scott, L. K., & Sanders, C. B. (2018). *The craft of qualitative research: A handbook*. Canadian Scholars.

Kocakulah, M. C., Kelley, A. G., Mitchell, K. M., & Ruggieri, M. P. (2016).
Absenteeism problems and costs: Causes, effects and cures. *International Business & Economics Research Journal (IBER)*, *15*(3), 89-96.
https://doi.org/10.19030/iber.v15i3.9673

Koo, B., Yu, J., Chua, B.-L., Lee, S., & Han, H. (2019). Relationships among emotional and material rewards, job satisfaction, burnout, affective commitment, job performance, and turnover intention in the hotel industry. *Journal of Quality Assurance in Hospitality & Tourism*, 21(4), 371-401.
https://doi.org/10.1080/1528008x.2019.1663572

Koohang, A., & Hatch, M. (2017). Leadership effectiveness in IT-centered organizations:
Gender and levels of management. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 57(4), 385-391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2017.1330128</u>

Kopackova, H. (2019). Reflexion of citizens needs in city strategies: The case study of

selected cities of Visegrad group countries. Cities, 84, 159-171.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2018.08.004

- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1),
 120-124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092</u>
- Korzynski, P. (2013). Employee motivation in new working environment. *International Journal of Academic Research*, 5(5), 184-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.7813/2075-</u>

<u>4124.2013/5-5/b.28</u>

- Koufteros, X., Verghese, A., & Lucianetti, L. (2014). The effect of performance measurement systems on firm performance: A cross-sectional and a longitudinal study. *Journal of Operations Management*, 32(6), 313-336. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2014.06.003</u>
- Krumm, S., Kanthak, J., Hartmann, K., & Hertel, G. (2016). What does it take to be a virtual team player? The knowledge, skills, abilities, and other characteristics required in virtual teams. *Human Performance*, *29*(2), 123-142.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08959285.2016.1154061

- Kumar, R. D., & Khiljee, N. (2016). Leadership in healthcare. *Anaesthesia & Intensive Care Medicine*, *17*(1), 63-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mpaic.2015.10.012</u>
- Kuo, P. X., Volling, B. L., & Gonzalez, R. (2018). Gender role beliefs, work–family conflict, and father involvement after the birth of a second child. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, 19(2), 243-256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/men0000101</u>

Kurniawaty, K., Ramly, M., & Ramlawati, R. (2019). The effect of work environment,

stress, and job satisfaction on employee turnover intention. *Management Science Letters*, 9(6), 877-886. <u>https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.3.001</u>

- Kwapisz, A. (2019). The relative importance of transformational leadership and contingent reward on satisfaction with supervision in nonprofit and for-profit organizations. *Journal of International & Interdisciplinary Business Research*, 6(4), 41-63. <u>https://scholars.fhsu.edu/jiibr/vol6/iss1/4/</u>
- Lacerenza, C. N., Marlow, S. L., Tannenbaum, S. I., & Salas, E. (2018). Team development interventions: Evidence-based approaches for improving teamwork. *American Psychologist*, 73(4), 517-531. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000295</u>
- Lanaj, K., & Hollenbeck, J. R. (2014). Leadership over-emergence in self-managing teams: The role of gender and countervailing biases. *Academy of Management Journal*, 58(5), 1476-1494. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2013.0303</u>
- Lange, D. D., & Dodds, R. (2017). Increasing sustainable tourism through social entrepreneurship. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(7), 1977-2002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijchm-02-2016-0096</u>
- Lange, S., Bormann, K. C., & Rowold, J. (2018). Mindful leadership: Mindfulness as a new antecedent of destructive and transformational leadership behavior. *Gruppe. Interaktion. Organisation. Zeitschrift Für Angewandte Organisationspsychologie (GIO), 49*(2), 139-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11612-</u> 018-0413-y
- Langner, R., Leiberg, S., Hoffstaedter, F., & Eickhoff, S. B. (2018). Towards a human self-regulation system: Common and distinct neural signatures of emotional and

behavioural control. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 90, 400-410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.04.022

- Laureani, A., & Antony, J. (2017). Leadership and lean six sigma: A systematic literature review. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 30(1-2), 53-81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14783363.2017.1288565</u>
- Lavy, S., & Eshet, R. (2018). Spiral effects of teachers' emotions and emotion regulation strategies: Evidence from a daily diary study. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 73, 151-161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.04.001
- Lawrie, E. J., Tuckey, M. R., & Dollard, M. F. (2018). Job design for mindful work: The boosting effect of psychosocial safety climate. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 23(4), 483-495. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000102</u>
- Lazear, E. P. (2018). Compensation and incentives in the workplace. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 32(3), 195-214. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.32.3.195
- Lee, N., & Drever, E. (2014). Do SMEs in deprived areas find it harder to access finance?
 Evidence from the UK small business survey. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 26(3-4), 337-356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08985626.2014.911966</u>
- Lee, S. S., Dong, C., Yeo, S. P., Gwee, M. C., & Samarasekera, D. D. (2018). Impact of faculty development programs for positive behavioural changes among teachers: A case study. *Korean Journal of Medical Education*, 30(1), 11-22. https://doi.org/10.3946/kjme.2018.77
- Lee, Y. H., & Chelladurai, P. (2017). Emotional intelligence, emotional labor, coach burnout, job satisfaction, and turnover intention in sport leadership. *European*

Sport Management Quarterly, 18(4), 393-412.

https://doi.org/10.1080/16184742.2017.1406971

- Legault, L., Ray, K., Hudgins, A., Pelosi, M., & Shannon, W. (2017). Assisted versus asserted autonomy satisfaction: Their unique associations with well-being, integration of experience, and conflict negotiation. *Motivation and Emotion*, *41*(1), 1-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-016-9593-3</u>
- Lei, H., Leaungkhamma, L., & Le, P. (2020, April 22). How transformational leadership facilitates innovation capability: The mediating role of employees' psychological capital. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 41(4), 481-499. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-06-2019-0245
- Leslie, M., & Paradis, E. (2018). Is health information technology improving interprofessional care team communications? An ethnographic study in critical care. *Journal of Interprofessional Education & Practice, 10*, 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xjep.2017.10.002
- Levitt, H. M., Bamberg, M., Creswell, J. W., Frost, D. M., Josselson, R., & Suárez-Orozco, C. (2018). Journal article reporting standards for qualitative primary, qualitative meta-analytic, and mixed methods research in psychology: The APA Publications and Communications Board task force report. *American Psychologist*, 73(1), 26-46. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000151
- Lexa, F. J., & Fessell, D. (2017). Low Morale, High Turnover. Journal of the American College of Radiology, 14(9), 1259-1260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2017.03.022

Li, S., Easterby-Smith, M., & Hong, J. F. (2019). Towards an understanding of the nature of dynamic capabilities in high-velocity markets of China. *Journal of Business Research*, 97, 212-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.08.007</u>

Li, S., Huo, Y., & Long, L. (2015). Chinese traditionality matters: Effects of differentiated empowering leadership on followers' trust in leaders and work outcomes. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 145(1), 81-93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2900-1

- Lin, S. Y., Shanafelt, T. D., & Asch, S. M. (2018). Reimagining clinical documentation with artificial intelligence. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 93(5), 563-565. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.02.016</u>
- Lind, J., Pelger, S., & Jakobsson, A. (2018). Students' ideas about technological systems interacting with human needs. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 29(2), 263-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10798-018-9449-0</u>
- Link, M. (2018). New data strategies: Nonprobability sampling, mobile, big data. *Quality Assurance in Education*, 26(2), 303-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/qae-06-2017-0029</u>
- Lippincott, M. (2018). Deconstructing the relationship between mindfulness and leader effectiveness. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 39(5), 650-664. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-11-2017-0340</u>
- Lohr, K., Graef, F., Bonatti, M., Mahoo, H. F., Wambura, J., & Sieber, S. (2017).
 Conflict management systems for large scientific research projects. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 28(3), 322-345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijcma-</u>

- Loosemore, M., & Bridgeman, J. (2017). Corporate volunteering in the construction industry: Motivations, costs and benefits. *Construction Management and Economics*, 35(10), 641-653. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01446193.2017.1315150</u>
- Loue, S., & Loff, B. (2019). Vulnerability in Research: Defining, applying, and teaching the concept. In A. Sandu, A. Frunza, & E. Unguru (Eds.), Advances in Library and Information Science Ethics in Research Practice and Innovation (pp. 110-126). https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-6310-5.ch006
- Lowe, A., Norris, A. C., Farris, A. J., & Babbage, D. R. (2018). Quantifying thematic saturation in qualitative data analysis. *Field Methods*, 30(3), 191-207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x17749386</u>
- Lumpkin, A., & Achen, R. M. (2018). Explicating the synergies of self-determination theory, ethical leadership, servant leadership, and emotional intelligence. *Journal* of Leadership Studies, 12(1), 6-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jls.21554</u>
- Luo, Z., Marnburg, E., & Law, R. (2017). Linking leadership and justice to organizational commitment: The mediating role of collective identity in the hotel industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(4), 1167-1184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-08-2015-0423</u>
- Maccagnan, A., Wren-Lewis, S., Brown, H., & Taylor, T. (2018). Wellbeing and society: towards quantification of the co-benefits of wellbeing. *Social Indicators Research*, 141(1), 217-243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-017-1826-7</u>

Mach, M., & Lvina, E. (2017). When trust in the leader matters: The moderated-

mediation model of team performance and trust. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 29(2), 134-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10413200.2016.1196765</u>

- Madill, A., & Sullivan, P. (2018). Mirrors, portraits, and member checking: Managing difficult moments of knowledge exchange in the social sciences. *Qualitative Psychology*, 5(3), 321-339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000089</u>
- Maher, C., Hadfield, M., Hutchings, M., & Eyto, A. D. (2018). Ensuring Rigor in
 Qualitative Data Analysis. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 113. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918786362
- Mahmood, M., Uddin, M. A., & Fan, L. (2019). The influence of transformational leadership on employees' creative process engagement. *Management Decision*, 57(3), 741-764. https://doi.org/10.1108/md-07-2017-0707
- Mansour, S., & Tremblay, D. (2018). Work–family conflict/family–work conflict, job stress, burnout and intention to leave in the hotel industry in Quebec (Canada):
 Moderating role of need for family friendly practices as "resource passageways". *The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 29*(16), 2399-2430.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1239216
- Marchalina, L., & Ahmad, H. (2017). The effect of internal communication on employees' commitment to change in Malaysian large companies. *Business Management and Strategy*, 8(1), 1-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.5296/bms.v8i1.10629</u>
- Marchiondo, L. A., Cortina, L. M., & Kabat-Farr, D. (2018). Attributions and appraisals of workplace incivility: Finding light on the dark side? *Applied Psychology*, 67(3), 369-400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/apps.12127</u>

- Marques, J. (2017). A mindful moral compass for twenty-first century leadership: The noble eightfold path. *Journal of Values-Based Leadership*, 10(1), 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.22543/0733.101.1177</u>
- Martin, A., & Matiaske, W. (2017). Absenteeism as a reaction to harmful behavior in the workplace from a stress theory point of view. *Management Revu*, 28(2), 227-254. <u>https://doi.org/10.5771/0935-9915-2017-2-227</u>
- Martin, J. (2018). What do academic librarians value in a leader? Reflections on past positive library leaders and a consideration of future library leaders. *College & Research Libraries*, 79(6), 799-821. <u>https://doi.org/10.5860/crl.79.6.799</u>
- Martinez-Corcoles, M., & Stephanou, K. (2017). Linking active transactional leadership and safety performance in military operations. *Safety Science*, 96, 93-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2017.03.013</u>
- Maxwell, J. A. (2019). Distinguishing between quantitative and qualitative research: A response to Morgan. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 13(2), 132-137. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689819828255
- Mayes, B. T., Finney, T. G., Johnson, T. W., Shen, J., & Yi, L. (2017). The effect of human resource practices on perceived organizational support in the people's Republic of China, *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 28(9), 1261-1290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2015.1114768</u>
- McRobert, C. J., Hill, J. C., Smale, T., Hay, E. M., & van der Windt, D. A. (2018). A multi-modal recruitment strategy using social media and internet-mediated methods to recruit a multidisciplinary, international sample of clinicians to an

online research study. Plos One, 13(7), 1-17.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200184

- Merriam, S., & Tisdell, E. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation, 4th Edition.* John Wiley & Sons.
- Merriam, S. B., & Grenier, R. S. (2019). Qualitative research in practice: Examples for discussion and analysis. Jossey-Bass, a Wiley Brand.
- Merrilees, B., Miller, D., & Yakimova, R. (2017). The role of staff engagement in facilitating staff-led value co-creation. *Journal of Service Management*, 28(2), 250-264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/josm-10-2015-0326</u>
- Meyer, F., Le Fevre, D. M., & Robinson, V. M. (2017). How leaders communicate their vulnerability: Implications for trust building. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 31(2), 221-235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-11-2015-0150</u>
- Miao, C., Humphrey, R. H., & Qian, S. (2018). A cross-cultural meta-analysis of how leader emotional intelligence influences subordinate task performance and organizational citizenship behavior. *Journal of World Business*, 53(4), 463-474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jwb.2018.01.003
- Milner, R., & Furnham, A. (2017). Measuring customer feedback, response and satisfaction. *Psychology*, 8(03), 350-362.

https://doi.org/10.4236/psych.2017.83021

Minor, K. I., Wells, J. B., Lambert, E. G., & Keller, P. (2014). Increasing morale:
Personal and work environment antecedents of job morale among staff in juvenile corrections. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 41(11), 1308-1326.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854814544702

Mo, S., & Shi, J. (2015). Linking ethical leadership to employees' organizational citizenship behavior: Testing the multilevel mediation role of organizational concern. *Journal of Business Ethics, 141*(1), 151-162.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2734-x

- Mohajan, H. K. (2018). Qualitative research methodology in social sciences and related subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People, 7*(1), 23-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.26458/jedep.v7i1.571</u>
- Moin, M. F. (2018). The link between perceptions of leader emotion regulation and followers' organizational commitment. *Journal of Management Development*, 37(2), 178-187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jmd-01-2017-0014</u>
- Molek-Winiarska, D., & Zolnierczyk-Zreda, D. (2018). Application of mindfulness-based stress reduction to a stress management intervention in a study of a mining sector company. *International Journal of Occupational Safety and Ergonomics*, 24(4), 546-556. https://doi.org/10.1080/10803548.2018.1452843
- Montani, F., Battistelli, A., & Odoardi, C. (2017). Proactive goal generation and innovative work behavior: The moderating role of affective commitment, production ownership and leader support for innovation. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 51(2), 107-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.89</u>
- Moon, M. D. (2019). Triangulation: A Method to Increase Validity, Reliability, and Legitimation in Clinical Research. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(1), 103-105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2018.11.004</u>

- Moore, C., Mayer, D. M., Chiang, F. F., Crossley, C., Karlesky, M. J., & Birtch, T. A. (2019). Leaders matter morally: The role of ethical leadership in shaping employee moral cognition and misconduct. *Journal of Applied Psychology,* 104(1), 123-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000341</u>
- Morris, S. D., Grice, J. W., & Cox, R. A. (2017). Scale imposition as quantitative alchemy: Studies on the transitivity of neuroticism ratings. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 39(1), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2016.1256288</u>
- Moses, N. D., Pakravan, M. H., & Maccarty, N. A. (2019). Development of a practical evaluation for cookstove usability. *Energy for Sustainable Development*, 48, 154-163. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esd.2018.12.003
- Moutousi, O., & May, D. (2018). How change-related unethical leadership triggers follower resistance to change: A theoretical account and conceptual model. *Journal of Change Management*, 18(2), 142-161.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14697017.20 18.1446695

- Mpofu, S. (2017). Art as journalism in Zimbabwe. *Journalism Studies*, 20(1), 60-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1461670X.2017.1358652</u>
- Muchiri, M. K., Mcmurray, A. J., Nkhoma, M., & Pham, H. C. (2019). How transformational and empowering leader behaviors enhance workplace safety: A review and research agenda. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 53(1), 257-265. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2019.0015
- Muhammed, S., & Soumyaja, D. (2019). Employee voice and its relation to the morale of employees in the IT sector in South India. *Ushus Journal of Business*

Management, 18(2), 55-64. https://doi.org/10.12725/ujbm.47.4

Mullen, J., Kelloway, E. K., & Teed, M. (2017). Employer safety obligations, transformational leadership and their interactive effects on employee safety performance. *Safety Science*, *91*, 405-412.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2016.09.007

- Myers, N. D., Ntoumanis, N., Gunnell, K. E., Gucciardi, D. F., & Lee, S. (2017). A review of some emergent quantitative analyses in sport and exercise psychology. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, *11*(1), 70-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1750984x.2017.1317356</u>
- Nardi, P. M. (2018). *Doing survey research: A guide to quantitative methods*. Routledge, an imprint of the Taylor & Francis Group.
- Natow, R. S. (2019). The use of triangulation in qualitative studies employing elite interviews. *Qualitative Research*, *20*(2), 160-173.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119830077

Nielsen, K., Nielsen, M. B., Ogbonnaya, C., Kansala, M., Saari, E., & Isaksson, K.
(2017). Workplace resources to improve both employee well-being and performance: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Work & Stress, 31*(2), 101-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2017.1304463</u>

Nielsen, M. B., Birkeland, M. S., Hansen, M. B., Knardahl, S., & Heir, T. (2017).
 Victimization from workplace bullying after a traumatic event: Time-lagged relationships with symptoms of posttraumatic stress. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 90(5), 411-421.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-017-1204-4

- Niessen, C., Mader, I., Stride, C., & Jimmieson, N. L. (2017). Thriving when exhausted: The role of perceived transformational leadership. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 103, 41-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2017.07.012</u>
- Nilsen, P., Wallerstedt, B., Behm, L., & Ahlstrom, G. (2018). Towards evidence-based palliative care in nursing homes in Sweden: A qualitative study informed by the organizational readiness to change theory. *Implementation Science*, *13*(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0699-0
- Noor, A., & Ampornstira, F. (2019). Effects of leadership on employee morale in higher education. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 10(7), 141-144. https://doi.org/10.30845/ijbss.v10n7p15
- Novak, J., Farr-Wharton, B., Brunetto, Y., Shacklock, K., & Brown, K. (2017). Safety outcomes for engineering asset management organizations: Old problem with new solutions? *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, 160, 67-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ress.2016.12.004
- O'Connell, V., & O'Sullivan, D. (2014). The influence of lead indicator strength on the use of nonfinancial measures in performance management: Evidence from CEO compensation schemes. *Strategic Management Journal*, *35*(6), 826-844. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2124
- Odonoghue, K., Ju, P. W., & Tsui, M. (2017). Constructing an evidence-informed social work supervision model. *European Journal of Social Work*, *21*(3), 348-358. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13691457.2017.1341387</u>

- O'Halloran, L., Littlewood, M., Richardson, D., Tod, D., & Nesti, M. (2016). Doing descriptive phenomenological data collection in sport psychology research. *Sport in Society*, *21*(2), 302-313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17430437.2016.1159199</u>
- Olsen, H. M., Brown, W. J., Kolbe-Alexander, T., & Burton, N. W. (2018). A brief selfdirected intervention to reduce office employees' sedentary behavior in a flexible workplace. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 60(10), 954-959. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/jom.00000000001389</u>
- Ospina, S. M., Esteve, M., & Lee, S. (2017). Assessing qualitative studies in public administration research. *Public Administration Review*, 78(4), 593-605. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12837</u>
- Overall, N. C., & McNulty, J. K. (2017). What type of communication during conflict is beneficial for intimate relationships? *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 13, 1-5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2016.03.002</u>
- Ozyilmaz, A., Erdogan, B., & Karaeminogullari, A. (2018). Trust in organization as a moderator of the relationship between self-efficacy and workplace outcomes: A social cognitive theory-based examination. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 91(1), 181-204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/joop.12189</u>
- Paek, S., Schuckert, M., Kim, T. T., & Lee, G. (2015). Why is hospitality employees' psychological capital important? The effects of psychological capital on work engagement and employee morale. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 50, 9-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.07.001</u>

Palvalin, M. (2017). How to measure impacts of work environment changes on

knowledge work productivity – validation and improvement of the smartWoW tool. *Measuring Business Excellence*, *21*(2), 175-190. https://doi.org/10.1108/mbe-05-2016-0025

- Parent, J. D., & Lovelace, K. J. (2018). Employee engagement, positive organizational culture and individual adaptability. *On the Horizon*, 26(3), 206-214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/oth-01-2018-0003</u>
- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification. *Journal of Marketing Thought*, *3*(1), 1-7.

https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1

- Parker-Jenkins, M. (2018). Problematising ethnography and case study: Reflections on using ethnographic techniques and researcher positioning. *Ethnography and Education*, 13(1), 18-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17457823.2016.1253028</u>
- Pasamar, S., Diaz-Fernandez, M., & Rosa-Navarro, M. D. (2019). Human capital: The link between leadership and organizational learning. *European Journal of Management and Business Economics*, 28(1), 25-51.

https://doi.org/10.1108/ejmbe-08-2017-0003

- Pasha, O., Poister, T. H., Wright, B. E., & Thomas, J. C. (2017). Transformational leadership and mission valence of employees: The varying effects by organizational level. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 40(4), 722-740. https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2017.1335220
- Patterson-Silver Wolf, D., Dulmus, C., Maguin, E., & Cristalli, M. (2013). Factors influencing worker morale: Evaluating provider demographics, workplace

environment and using ESTs. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 23(3), 304-310. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731513479143

- Peck, A. (2018). Mapping Career-Ready Skills through student leadership programs. New Directions for Student Leadership, 2018(157), 71-83. https://doi.org/10.1002/yd.20280
- Penny, R. A., Bradford, N. K., & Langbecker, D. (2018). Registered nurse and midwife experiences of using videoconferencing in practice: A systematic review of qualitative studies. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(5-6), E739-E752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14175</u>
- Phillips, M., & Lu, J. (2018). A quick look at NVivo. *Journal of Electronic Resources Librarianship*, *30*(2), 104-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1941126x.2018.1465535</u>
- Pinck, A. S., & Sonnentag, S. (2017). Leader mindfulness and employee well-being: The mediating role of transformational leadership. *Mindfulness*, 9(3), 884-896. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0828-5
- Place, K. R., & Vardeman-Winter, J. (2018). Where are the women? An examination of research on women and leadership in public relations. *Public Relations Review*, 44(1), 165-173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2017.10.005
- Plester, B., & Hutchison, A. (2016). Fun times: The relationship between fun and workplace engagement. *Employee Relations*, 38(3), 332-350. https://doi.org/10.1108/er-03-2014-0027
- Pokorny, J. J., Norman, A., Zanesco, A. P., Bauer-Wu, S., Sahdra, B. K., & Saron, C. D. (2018). Network analysis for the visualization and analysis of qualitative data.

Psychological Methods, 23(1), 169-183. https://doi.org/10.1037/met0000129

Potts, A. J., Didymus, F. F., & Kaiseler, M. (2018). Exploring stressors and coping among volunteer, part-time and full-time sports coaches. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health*, 11(1), 46-68.

https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676x.2018.1457562

- Prati, L. M., & Karriker, J. H. (2018). Acting and performing: Influences of manager emotional intelligence. *Journal of Management Development*, 37(1), 101-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jmd-03-2017-0087</u>
- Pratt, J. M., & Yezierski, E. J. (2018). A novel qualitative method to improve access, elicitation, and sample diversification for enhanced transferability applied to studying chemistry outreach. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, 19(2), 410-430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c7rp00200a</u>
- Price, M. S., & Weiss, M. R. (2013). Relationships among coach leadership, peer leadership, and adolescent athletes' psychosocial and team outcomes: A test of transformational leadership theory. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 25(2), 265-279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10413200.2012.725703</u>
- Qureshi, M. I., Iftikhar, M., Janjua, S. Y., Zaman, K., Raja, U. M., & Javed, Y. (2015).
 Empirical investigation of mobbing, stress and employees' behavior at work
 place: Quantitatively refining a qualitative model. *Quality & Quantity*, 49(1), 93-

113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-013-9976-4</u>

Raeburn, T., Schmied, V., Hungerford, C., & Cleary, M. (2015). The contribution of case study design to supporting research on clubhouse psychosocial rehabilitation.

BMC Research Notes, 8(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-015-1521-1

- Ragins, B. R., Ehrhardt, K., Layness, K. S., Murphy, D. D., & Capman, J. F. (2017).
 Anchoring relationships at work: High quality mentors and other supportive work relationships as buffers to ambient racial discrimination. *Personnel Psychology*, 70(1), 211-256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12144</u>
- Ralph, L. J., Foster, D. G., Kimport, K., Turok, D., & Roberts, S. C. (2017). Measuring decisional certainty among women seeking abortion. *Contraception*, 95(3), 269-278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.contraception.2016.09.008
- Rao, M. (2017). Tools and techniques to resolve organizational conflicts amicably. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 49(2), 93-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ict-05-2016-0030</u>
- Rawat, S. R. (2015). Impact of Transformational leadership over employee morale and motivation. *Indian Journal of Science and Technology*, 8(S6), 25-34. https://doi.org/10.17485/ijst/2015/v8is6/62118
- Reb, J., Chaturvedi, S., Narayanan, J., & Kudesia, R. S. (2018). Leader mindfulness and employee performance: A sequential mediation model of LMX quality, interpersonal justice, and employee stress. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *160*(3), 745-763. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3927-x</u>
- Renz, S. M., Carrington, J. M., & Badger, T. A. (2018). Two strategies for qualitative content analysis: An intramethod approach to triangulation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(5), 824-831. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317753586</u>

Retzer, A., Turner, G. M., Slade, A., Kyte, D., McMullan, C., Jones, L., Belli, A., &

Calvert, M. (2019). Electronic patient reported outcomes to support care of patients with traumatic brain injury: Priority study qualitative protocol. *BMJ Open*, *9*(1), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-024617

- Ries, P. D. (2019). Evaluating impacts of the municipal forestry institute leadership training on participants' personal and professional lives. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 39, 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2019.02.002</u>
- Robertson, J. L., & Barling, J. (2017). Contrasting the nature and effects of environmentally specific and general transformational leadership. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 38(1), 22-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/lodj-05-2015-0100</u>
- Robertson, S., Harris, A., & Baldassar, L. (2017). Mobile transitions: A conceptual framework for researching a generation on the move. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 21(2), 203-217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2017.1362101</u>
- Rose, S. A., Sheffield, D., & Harling, M. (2017). The integration of the workable range model into a mindfulness-based stress reduction course: A practice-based case study. *Mindfulness*, 9(2), 430-440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0787-x</u>
- Saeidi, S. P., Sofian, S., Saeidi, P., Saeidi, S. P., & Saaeidi, S. A. (2015). How does corporate social responsibility contribute to firm financial performance? The mediating role of competitive advantage, reputation, and customer satisfaction. *Journal of Business Research*, 68(2), 341-350.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.06.024

Salganik, M. J. (2018). Bit by bit: Social research in the digital age. Princeton University

Press.

- Samson, A., & Babu, K. N. (2017). Cognitive factors and its impact on job satisfaction -A study on selected information technology enabled service companies in Bengaluru. SDMIMD Journal of Management, 8(1), 39-45. https://doi.org/10.18311/sdmimd /2017/15724
- Saridakis, G., Torres, R. M., & Johnstone, S. (2013). Do human resource practices enhance organizational commitment in SMEs with low employee satisfaction? *British Journal of Management, 24*(3), 445-458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u> 8551.2012.00814.x
- Sarstedt, M., Bengart, P., Shaltoni, A. M., & Lehmann, S. (2017). The use of sampling methods in advertising research: A gap between theory and practice. *International Journal of Advertising*, 37(4), 650-663.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02650487.2017.1348329

- Saunila, M., Pekkola, S., & Ukko, J. (2014). The relationship between innovation capability and performance. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*, 63(2), 234-249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ijppm-04-</u> 2013-0065
- Scharp, K. M., & Sanders, M. L. (2018). What is a theme? Teaching thematic analysis in qualitative communication research methods. *Communication Teacher*, *33*(2), 117-121. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2018.1536794
- Schuh, S. C., Zheng, M. X., Xin, K. R., & Fernandez, J. A. (2019). The Interpersonal benefits of leader mindfulness: A serial mediation model linking leader

mindfulness, leader procedural justice enactment, and employee exhaustion and performance. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *156*(4), 1007-1025. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3610-7

 Schulze, J., & Krumm, S. (2017). The "virtual team player": A review and initial model of knowledge, skills, abilities, and other characteristics for virtual collaboration. *Organizational Psychology Review*, 7(1), 66-95. https://doi.org/10.1177/2041386616675522

- Serrat, O. (2017). *Knowledge solutions: tools, methods, and approaches to drive development forward and enhance its effects.* Springer Singapore.
- Shafagatova, A., & Van Looy, A. (2020). A conceptual framework for process-oriented employee appraisals and rewards. *Knowledge and Process Management*, 28(1), 90-104.<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/kpm.1644</u>
- Shahzad, U., Memon, M. A., Khurram, S., & Tan, K. L. (2020). The role of relationship conflict and mindfulness in the consequences of task conflict. *Asian Journal of Business Research*, 9(3), 145-179. <u>https://doi.org/10.14707/ajbr.190071</u>
- Shi, H., Sridhar, S., Grewal, R., & Lilien, G. (2017). Sales representative departures and customer reassignment strategies in business-to-business markets. *Journal of Marketing*, 81(2), 25-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1509/jm.15.0358</u>
- Shuck, B., Alagaraja, M., Rose, K., Owen, J., Osam, K., & Bergman, M. (2017). The health-related upside of employee engagement: Exploratory evidence and implications for theory and practice engagement: Exploratory evidence and implications for theory and practice. *Performance Improvement Quarterly*, 30(3),

165-178. https://doi.org/10.1002/piq.21246

- Siangchokyoo, N., Klinger, R. L., & Campion, E. D. (2020). Follower transformation as the linchpin of transformational leadership theory: A systematic review and future research agenda. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 31(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2019.101341
- Sivell, S., Prout, H., Hopewell-Kelly, N., Baillie, J., Byrne, A., Edwards, M., Harrop, E., Noble, S., Sampson, C., & Nelson, A. (2015). Considerations and recommendations for conducting qualitative research interviews with palliative and end-of-life care patients in the home setting: A consensus paper. *BMJ Supportive & Palliative Care*, 9(1). 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjspcare-2015-000892</u>
- Sliwinski, M. J., Mogle, J. A., Hyun, J., Munoz, E., Smyth, J. M., & Lipton, R. B. (2016). Reliability and validity of ambulatory cognitive assessments. *Assessment*, 25(1), 14-30. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191116643164
- Smith, B., & Mcgannon, K. R. (2017). Developing rigor in qualitative research: Problems and opportunities within sport and exercise psychology. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 11(1), 101-121. https://doi.org/10.1080/1750984x.2017.13173 57
- Smith, M. (2017). Project team building to improve the safety culture and prevention of electrical incidents. Reno, NV: IEEE IAS Electrical Safety Workshop. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/esw.2017.7914853</u>

Sousa, M. J., & Rocha, Á. (2019). Leadership styles and skills developed through game-

based learning. *Journal of Business Research*, 94, 360-366. <u>https://doi.org/10.101</u> 6/j.jbusre s.2018.01.057

- Speed, B. C., Goldstein, B. L., & Goldfried, M. R. (2017). Assertiveness training: A forgotten evidence-based treatment. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 25(1), 1-20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cpsp.12216</u>
- Spekle, R. F., & Verbeeten, F. H. (2014). The use of performance measurement systems in the public sector: Effects on performance. *Management Accounting Research*, 25(2), 131-146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mar.2013.07.004
- Stanko, B., Zeller, T., & Melena, M. (2014). Human asset accounting and measurement: Moving forward. *Journal of Business & Economics Research*, 12(2), 93-104. https://doi.org/10.19030/jber.v12i2.8522
- Stater, K. J., & Stater, M. (2018). Is It "Just Work"? The impact of work rewards on job satisfaction and turnover intent in the nonprofit, for-profit, and public sectors. *The American Review of Public Administration*, 49(4), 495-511.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0275074018815261

- Street, T., & Lacey, S. (2018). Accounting for employee health: The productivity cost of leading health risks. *Health Promotion Journal of Australia*, 30(2), 228-237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hpja.200</u>
- Styron, R. A., & Styron, J. L. (2017). Comprehensive problem-solving and skill development for next-generation leaders. IGI Global.
- Swaminathan, R., & Mulvihill, T. M. (2018). *Teaching qualitative research: Strategies* for engaging emerging scholars. The Guilford Press.

Sykes, B. L., Verma, A., & Hancock, B. H. (2017). Aligning sampling and case selection in quantitative-qualitative research designs: Establishing generalizability limits in mixed-method studies. *Ethnography*, 19(2), 227-253.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1466138117725341

- Tarkang Mary, M. E. M., & Ozturen, A. (2019). Sustainable ethical leadership and employee outcomes in the hotel industry in Cameroon. *Sustainability*, *11*(8), 2245. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11082245</u>
- Tazzini, G., Montelisciani, G., Gabelloni, D., Paganucci, S., & Fantoni, G. (2013). A structured team building method for collaborative crowdsourcing. *International Conference on Engineering, Technology and Innovation (ICE) & IEEE International Technology Management Conference.*https://doi.org/10.1109/ITMC.2013.7352708
- Terera, S. R., & Ngirande, H. (2014). The impact of training on employee job satisfaction and retention among administrative staff members: A case of a selected tertiary institution. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 39(1), 43-50.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09718923.2014.11893267

- Thiel, C. E., Hardy, J. H., Peterson, D. R., Welsh, D. T., & Bonner, J. M. (2018). Too many sheep in the flock? Span of control attenuates the influence of ethical leadership. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *103*(12), 1324-1334. https://doi.org/10.1037/ap10000338
- Tiesman, H. M., Konda, S., Hartley, D., Menéndez, C. C., Ridenour, M., & Hendricks, S. (2015). Suicide in U.S. workplaces, 2003-2010. American Journal of Preventive

Medicine, 48(6), 674-682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2014.12.011

- Toye, F., Williamson, E., Williams, M. A., Fairbank, J., & Lamb, S. E. (2016). What value can qualitative research add to quantitative research design? An example from an adolescent Idiopathic Scoliosis trial feasibility study. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1838-1850. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316662446</u>
- Tse, H. H., & Chiu, W. C. (2014). Transformational leadership and job performance: A social identity perspective. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(1), 2827-2835. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.07.018
- Tsevairidou, L., Matsouka, O., Tsitskari, E., Gourgoulis, V., & Kosta, G. (2019). Transformational leadership style, psychological empowerment and job satisfaction in Greek municipal sport organizations. *Sport Mont, 17*(2), 29-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.26773/smj.190605</u>
- U.S. Department of Health, Human Services, & Office for Human Research Protections (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. Retrieved from

http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html

Vaclavik, E., Staffileno, B., & Carlson, E. (2018). Moral distress: Using mindfulnessbased stress reduction interventions to decrease nurse perceptions of distress. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 22(3), 326-332.

https://doi.org/10.1188/18.cjon.326-332

Vagle, M. D. (2018). *Crafting phenomenological research*. Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.

Valerio, M. A., Rodriguez, N., Winkler, P., Lopez, J., Dennison, M., Liang, Y., & Turner, B. J. (2016). Comparing two samples methods to engage hard-to-reach communities in research priority setting. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 16(1), 146-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0242-z</u>

Van der Vyver, C. P., Van der Westhuizen, P. C., & Meyer, L. W. (2013). Caring school leadership. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 42(1), 61-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143213499257</u>

- Van Niekerk, W. M., De Klerk, M., & Pires-Putter, J. K. (2017). Conflict management styles and work-related well-being among higher education employees. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 27(3), 221-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2017.1</u> 321841
- Vega-Zamora, M., Torres-Ruiz, F. J., & Parras-Rosa, M. (2019). Towards sustainable consumption: Keys to communication for improving trust in organic foods. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 216, 511-519.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.12.129

- Vogl, S., Zartler, U., Schmidt, E., & Rieder, I. (2017). Developing an analytical framework for multiple perspective, qualitative longitudinal interviews (MPQLI). *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(2), 177-190. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2017.1345149
- Walesh, S. (2012). Engineering your future: The professional practice of engineering (3rd ed.). John Wiley & Sons.

Walsh, B. M., Lee, J., Jensen, J. M., Mcgonagle, A. K., & Samnani, A. (2018). Positive

leader behaviors and workplace incivility: The mediating role of perceived norms for respect. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, *33*(4), 495-508. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-017-9505-x

- Walumbwa, F. O., Hartnell, C. A., & Misati, E. (2017). Does ethical leadership enhance group learning behavior? Examining the mediating influence of group ethical conduct, justice climate, and peer justice. *Journal of Business Research*, 72, 14-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.11.013</u>
- Walzl, N., Jameson, J., Kinsella, J., & Lowe, D. J. (2019). Ceilings of treatment: A qualitative study in the emergency department. *BMC Emergency Medicine*, 19(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12873-019-0225-6
- Wang, H., Demerouti, E., & Le Blanc, P. L. (2017). Transformational leadership, adaptability, and job crafting: The moderating role of organizational identification. *Journal of Vocational Behavior, 100*, 185-195.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2017.03.009
- Wang, Y., & Peng, J. (2017). Work–family conflict and depression in Chinese professional women: The mediating roles of job satisfaction and life satisfaction. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *15*(2), 394-406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-017-9736-0

Weatherall, J., Polonsky, W. H., Lanar, S., Knoble, N., Hakan-Bloch, J., Constam, E., Philis-Tsimikas, A., & Marrel, A. (2018). When insulin degludec enhances quality of life in patients withtype 2 diabetes: A qualitative investigation. *Health* and Quality of Life Outcomes, 16(1), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-018-</u> 0883-1

- White, M. C., Randall, K., Avara, E., Mullis, J., Parker, G., & Shrime, M. G. (2017).
 Clinical outcome, social impact and patient expectation: A purposive sampling pilot evaluation of patients in Benin seven years after surgery. *World Journal of Surgery*, 42(5), 1254-1261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00268-017-4296-9
- Wilhelmy, A., Kleinmann, M., Konig, C. J., Melchers, K. G., & Truxillo, D. M. (2016).
 How and why do interviewers try to make impressions on applicants? A qualitative study. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *101*(3), 313-332.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000046
- Williams, P., Ashill, N., & Naumann, E. (2017). Toward a contingency theory of CRM adoption. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 25(5-6), 454-474.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/0965254x.2016.1149211
- Willig, C., & Wirth, L. (2018). A meta-synthesis of studies of patients' experience of living with terminal cancer. *Health Psychology*, 37(3), 228-237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000581</u>
- Winkel, A. F., Robinson, A., Jones, A., & Squires, A. P. (2018). Physician resilience: A grounded theory study of obstetrics and gynaecology residents. *Medical Education*, 53(2), 184-194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.13737</u>
- Winton, S., Palmer, S., & Hughes, P. (2018). Developing leadership for increasing complexity: A review of online graduate leadership programs. *Journal of Leadership Education*, 17(1), 162-176. <u>https://doi.org/10.12806/v17/i1/a4</u>
- Wirth, T. V., Fuenfschilling, L., Frantzeskaki, N., & Coenen, L. (2018). Impacts of urban

living labs on sustainability transitions: Mechanisms and strategies for systemic change through experimentation. *European Planning Studies*, 27(2), 229-257. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2018.1504895

- Wombacher, J. C., & Felfe, J. (2017). Dual commitment in the organization: Effects of the interplay of team and organizational commitment on employee citizenship behavior, efficacy beliefs, and turnover intentions. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 102, 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2017.05.004</u>
- Woodrow, C., & Guest, D. E. (2016). Leadership and approaches to the management of workplace bullying. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 26(2), 221-233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1359432x.2016.1243529</u>
- Wright, K. (2014). Alleviating stress in the workplace: Advice for nurses. *Nursing Standard*, 28(20), 37-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/ns2014.01.28.20.37.e8391</u>
- Wu, C., & Parker, S. K. (2017). The Role of leader support in facilitating proactive work behavior. *Journal of Management*, 43(4), 1025-1049. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920631454 4745
- Yao, C., & Huang, P. (2018). Effects of leadership style on job satisfaction and intention to stay in shipping industry. *Journal of Coastal Research*, 83(sp1), 796-801.
 https://doi.org/10.2112/si83-130.1
- Yin, J., Ma, Z., Yu, H., Jia, M., & Liao, G. (2019). Transformational leadership and employee knowledge sharing: explore the mediating roles of psychological safety and team efficacy. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 24(2), 150-171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jkm-12-2018-0776</u>

- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.).Sage Publications Inc.
- Yue, C. A., Men, L. R., & Ferguson, M. A. (2019). Bridging transformational leadership, transparent communication, and employee openness to change: The mediating role of trust. *Public Relations Review*, 45(3), 1-13.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.04.012

- Yuksel, M., McDonald, M. A., Milne, G. R., & Darmody, A. (2017). The paradoxical relationship between fantasy football and NFL consumption: Conflict development and consumer coping mechanisms. *Sport Management Review*, 20(2), 198-210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smr.2016.07.001</u>
- Zhang, M., Fan, D. D., & Zhu, C. J. (2014). High-Performance work systems, corporate social performance and employee outcomes: Exploring the missing links. *Journal* of Business Ethics, 120(3), 423-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-013-1672-8</u>
- Zhou, J., Wang, Q., Tsai, S., Xue, Y., & Dong, W. (2017). How to evaluate the job satisfaction of development personnel. *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics: Systems, 47*(11), 2809-2816.

https://doi.org/10.1109/tsmc.2016.2519860

Zhu, X., & Bao, M. (2017). Substitutes or complements? Individual-focused and groupfocused transformational leadership in different organizational structures in new firms. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 38(5), 699-718. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-04-2016-0097</u>

Zigarmi, D., & Roberts, T. P. (2017). A Test of Three Basic Assumptions of the

Situational Leadership® II Model and Their Implications for HRD Practitioners. *European Journal of Training and Development, 41*(3), 241-260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-05-2016-0035</u>

- Zineldin, M. (2017). Transformational leadership behavior, emotions, and outcomes:
 Health psychology perspective in the workplace. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health*, 32(1), 14-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15555240.2016.1273782</u>
- Zoghbi-Manrique-De-Lara, P., & Viera-Armas, M. (2017). Does ethical leadership motivate followers to participate in delivering compassion? *Journal of Business Ethics*, 154(1), 195-210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3454-1</u>

Appendix: Interview Protocol

What you will do	What you will say script
Introduce the	My name is Shannon Coffey and I am conducting research
interview and set the	under the supervision of Dr. Hammoud towards a Doctor of
stage often over	Business Administration degree at Walden University. I am
lunch, breakfast,	inviting you to participate in a study entitled "Strategies to
dinner, or tea.	Increase Employees' Morale".
Watch for nonverbal	1. What strategies did you use to increase employee morale to
queues.	improve productivity?
Paraphrase as needed	2. What strategies did you use to increase employee
Ask follow-up	morale to improve profitability?
probing questions to	3. What were the challenges you faced in maintaining and
get more in-depth	increasing employee morale?
information	4. How did you address the challenges you faced in
	maintaining and increasing employee morale?
	5. What other information would you like to share
	regarding strategies to increase employee morale?
	6. What other information would you like to share regarding
	strategies to increase employee morale?

Wrap up interview	I appreciate the time you have set aside to participate in this	
with up interview	appreciate the time you have set aside to participate in this	
thinking participant	interview, and is there anything else that you could add to be	
	helpful for me to fully understand strategies to increase	
	employees' morale?	
Schedule follow-up	To seek clarification on my interpretation of the data or any	
member interview	more questions would it be alright to call you?	
checking		
Follow-up Member Checking Interview		
Introduce follow-up	I have collected data from other matter experts' participants,'	
interview and set the	and I need to confirm my comprehension and clarification of	
stage	the issues discussed.	
Share a copy of the	From my recordings I have gathered evidence from other	
succinct synthesis for	matter experts like you, and I have summarized my	
each individual	understanding from my transcription, and I would like to check	
question	with you if my comprehension and clarification are correct.	
Bring in probing	1. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—	
questions related to	perhaps one paragraph or as needed	
other information that	2. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—	
you may have	perhaps one paragraph or as needed	
found—note the	3. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—	
information must be	perhaps one paragraph or as needed	
related so that you	4. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—	

are probing and	perhaps one paragraph or as needed
adhering to the IRB	
approval.	
Walk through each	
question, read the	
interpretation and	
ask:	
Did I miss anything?	
Or, what would you	
like add?	
L	